

RETURN ON INVESTMENT (ROI) REPORT

KNOX COUNTY SCHOOLS

Office of Accountability

MARCH 9, 2012

Table of Contents

| Executive Summary for Return on Investment Report | 3 |
|---|----|
| Introduction | 7 |
| Purpose of the Project | 7 |
| Methodology | 8 |
| Section I: Current Funding and Allocation Practices | 9 |
| How Our Schools are Funded | 9 |
| Points of Reference | 12 |
| General Purpose Fund Operating Budget | 14 |
| Areas of Utilization | 17 |
| Salaries and Wages | 19 |
| Other Operating Costs | 21 |
| Adverse Budget Impacts | 21 |
| Cost Management Examples | 22 |
| School Staffing Formulas | 24 |
| Section II: Expenditures versus Student Performance Outcomes | 25 |
| State Comparisons | 25 |
| Contiguous District Comparisons | 26 |
| Knox County Outcomes Related to Strategic Plan Goals | 29 |
| Section III: Initiative Review | 31 |
| Project GRAD | 31 |
| Magnet Programs | 33 |
| Language! | 35 |
| School Scheduling Models | 36 |
| Instructional Coaching Model | 39 |
| Section IV: Benchmark Study | 40 |
| Overview | 40 |
| Methodology | 41 |
| Findings | 41 |
| Section V: Themes and Recommendations | 43 |
| Time on Task and Student Expectations | 43 |
| Defined Roles and Appropriate Skills | 44 |
| Focus, Consistency, and Support | 46 |
| Culture of Data Driven Decision-making (Quantitative and Qualitative) | 47 |
| Conclusion | 48 |
| Appendix A: Calculation of Knox County Local Share of BEP | 49 |
| Appendix B: Review of Project GRAD | 50 |
| Appendix C: Review of Magnet Programs | 58 |
| Appendix D: Summary of Language! Program Evaluation | 65 |
| Appendix E: Review of Block Scheduling in High Schools and Middle Schools | 71 |
| Appendix F: Review of Parallel Block Schedules in Elementary School | 76 |
| Appendix G: Review of Instructional Coaching Model | 79 |
| Appendix H: Explanation of Normal Curve Equivalent (NCE) | 86 |
| Appendix I: Glossary of Terms | 88 |

Executive Summary for Return on Investment Report

In July 2009, the Knox County Board of Education adopted a strategic plan for the Knox County Schools (KCS) entitled, *Building on Strength: Excellence for All Children*. Through a continued focus on implementation of the plan, and by reallocating existing resources, strategically targeting federal and private dollars, and implementing internal efficiencies, the Knox County Schools has begun to meet some of the milestones and academic goals outlined in the plan. Our goals are purposefully ambitious however, and while improvements in student achievement are encouraging and noteworthy, they have been largely incremental, and continue to reflect some significant challenges facing our school district.

Acknowledging the need to accelerate improvements in our academic outcomes and recognizing that the strategies and initiatives necessary to make these improvements require resources beyond our current funding level presented a compelling case for a detailed analysis in the following areas:

- 1. Current funding sources and allocation practices
- 2. Expenditures versus student performance outcomes
- 3. Present return on investment for major district initiatives
- 4. Comparison study of other schools with similar demographics but better outcomes

The financial analysis revealed that the vast majority of the Knox County Schools budget represents the cost of the people necessary to perform the work of education, and the increase in the budget since fiscal year (FY) 2009 has totaled \$14.5 million, an average of only 1.3% annually. The vast majority of that increase has been committed to instruction and instructional support expenditures, with debt service also taking up the next largest proportion of the total increase. The budget increase over the past three years has generally not been for salaries and wages, which have remained relatively stable since 2009, but rather can be largely attributed to the impact of required increases in insurance premiums and retirement contributions (principally for teachers) which the school system does not directly control. The budget increases of the past three years were funded almost entirely (97.8%) by additional revenues from the state basic education program (BEP). Funding from Knox County sources is roughly equal in FY 2012 to where it was in FY 2009, essentially because sales tax revenue has decreased more than property and other local tax revenue has increased. To maintain an essentially flat budget, the Knox County Schools has made use of grants and other time-limited resources and aggressively managed non-instructional expenses to maximize the proportion of funds available for instruction and support.

It is also clear that the funding provided from the state through the "Basic Education Program" is insufficient to adequately meet the needs of the students in Knox County and woefully insufficient to attain the ambitious goals outlined in the Knox County Schools Strategic Plan. In absence of significant enhancements to the BEP, the burden will continue to fall on our local community to provide adequate resources necessary to ensure *Excellence for All Children*.

Several operational themes emerged from our return on investment analyses:

- Time matters. The amount of time students are meaningfully engaged in learning and their level of expectations for themselves are directly proportional to academic outcomes.
- We need the right people doing the right work. Clearly defined roles and skills matched to role can make or break an initiative.
- Leadership, consistency, focus and resources make a difference. Outcomes of an educational initiative depend on fidelity of implementation. Fidelity of implementation requires consistency in focus and support. The level of focus and support depends on the level of leadership and investment.
- We need data to keep score and inform decisions. Appropriate data for decision-making requires an infrastructure and culture of assessment and accountability to investments from the outset.

Below is a summary of the operational recommendations associated with each of these themes, with rationale and highlights from the details provided in the full text of the report. These recommendations are designed to maximize the return on our educational investment.

Time on Task and Student Expectations

- Scheduling Models: Maintain current middle school schedule but allow/encourage hybrid scheduling in high school.
- Excellence Through Literacy: Revise structure of literacy interventions in middle and high school. Ensure that middle school and high school students received the full grade-level course of language arts regardless of reading-specific intervention.
- Magnet and Project GRAD: Increase academic rigor in magnet schools and continue Project GRAD scholarship program.
- Kindergarten: Implement a full-day Kindergarten program for all students in the district.
- Benchmarking: Explore options for more time on task at all levels, informed by an examination at the school level of the amount of time during the existing school day that students are not – but could be – engaged in learning.

Defined Roles and Appropriate Skills

- Instructional Coaching Model and Excellence Through Literacy (Elementary): Clearly define a feasible set of coaching roles and responsibilities focused on professional development and facilitation of professional learning communities (PLCs).
- Project GRAD: Discontinue academic components; for remaining Project GRAD math coaches, assess skills and match to the KCS coaching model, where appropriate. If the scope of the Project GRAD partnership is will be broader thanthe college access program in future years, outline in the contract details of the activities and staff associated with the KCS dollars committed as well as a reporting structure that defines accountability to the Project GRAD staff and principals.

- Block scheduling: Targeted professional development to ensure that in every high school, the personnel responsible for the master schedule have the appropriate skills for the complexity of the task.
- Magnet: Develop specific criteria for staff selection and consider significant restructuring where necessary to ensure highly effective education
- Benchmark: Continue to provide principals with flexibility for staffing their schools via the budget allocation formula *as long as decisions have and continue to lead to improved outcomes.*

Focus, Consistency, and Support

- Coaching Model:
 - Build into the budget additional assistance matched to need for schools that do not have assistant principals.
 - Maintain a full-time coaching model in elementary schools and consistent school assignments for coaches.
 - Implement a supervisory structure for coaches to report to content supervisors as well as principals to ensure district-wide coordination and support.
- Magnet: Develop rigorous and specialized curriculum for magnet offerings, and provide ample resources to support implementation.
- Staffing formulas: It is important that the current staffing model be reviewed and adjusted each year to ensure that its philosophical underpinnings translate to rational allocations.
- All present and future initiatives: Develop assessment plan including short-term fidelity/quality measures and longer-term outcome indicators and workload priorities.

Culture of Data Driven Decision-making (Quantitative and Qualitative)

- All present and future initiatives: Develop *and execute* assessment plan as noted above, including collection of data/information from the outset and funding contingent on short-term quality and progress measures and project milestones for termination or expansion based on achievement of outcomes.
- Project GRAD: Develop in coordination with Project GRAD an analysis plan including agreedupon structure and content for tracking and data collection regarding students in the scholarship program.
- Middle and high school reading interventions: Convene a representative selection of principals, teachers, coaches, and directors to review full program evaluation data for Language! and develop a data-driven course of action.
- Elementary school scheduling model (parallel block) and coaching: Ensure focus in elementary PLCs with coaches to facilitate and assess quality and continue to collect data to assess appropriate staffing ratios and the effect of full Excellence Through Literacy investment.

These recommendations and analyses support the broader priorities for several important initiatives, including: more instructional time for students, enhanced instructional support for teachers, interventions for struggling students and enrichment opportunities for excelling students, consistently excellent magnet programs, and expanded performance pay to recruit and retain the very best educators. However, these priorities appear to not be within reach of the Knox County Schools' current revenue structure and instructionally-focused budget. This analysis suggests that if the KCS wants to accelerate and enhance student growth and achievement and be competitive at regional, state and national levels, additional investment will be needed. Therefore, it is recommended that the district develop a five-year budget proposal that identifies priority areas for additional resources based on these findings and an assessment plan and progress measures that lead toward the anticipated impact on student achievement and attaining the district's ambitious goal of *Excellence for All Children*.

Introduction

Purpose of the Project

In July 2009, the Knox County Board of Education adopted a strategic plan for the school district, entitled *Building on Strength: Excellence for All Children*. The five-year plan was designed to improve student achievement through intense attention to four overarching goals: Focus on the Student, Effective Educators, Engaged Parents and Community, and Infrastructure. By reallocating existing resources, strategically targeting resources from Race to the Top and other grant initiatives, and implementing internal efficiencies, the Knox County Schools has met many of the goals outlined in the plan:

Goal 1: Focus on the Student

- Implemented significantly higher curriculum standards and expectations
- Implemented 9th Grade Academies, Advisories, and research-based instructional strategies to meet individual needs
- Opened the L&N STEM Academy High School
- Provided alternate pathways to graduation via the Dr. Paul L. Kelley Volunteer Academy

Goal 2: Effective Educators

- Implemented the TEAM evaluation system and created Lead Teacher role
- Expanded TAP System from four to 18 schools
- Developed the APEX Strategic Compensation Plan
- Collaborated with the University of Tennessee to develop and implement a Leadership Academy for aspiring school leaders

Goal 3: Engaged Community and Parents

- Developed and implemented Professional Development in community engagement for the KCS personnel
- Initiated a District-wide Parent Conference
- Created a Parent University focused on providing skills for parents that will enhance their ability to support and be advocates for their children
- Implemented a Full-Service Community School Pilot at Pond Gap Elementary School
- Developed and implemented a Volunteer Management System

Goal 4: Infrastructure to Support Student Learning

- Downsized and reorganized Central Office (8% reduction in positions in FY12 alone)
- Created and implemented an Education Information Management System (EMIS) to effectively manage data from many disparate sources

Through implementation of the Strategic Plan, the Knox County Schools has seen steady improvement in student performance outcomes, as reflected in:

- a) Increased Overall Achievement (all 4 subject areas)
- b) Increased Graduation Rate (7.3% increase in three years)
- c) Increased percentage of ninth grade students graduating within four years and with an ACT score of 21 or better
- d) Significant increase in ACT takers and Advanced Placement and Honors course enrollees
- e) Progress on closing some achievement gaps

But while these improvements are encouraging and noteworthy, they are incremental at best and continue to reflect some significant challenges as evidenced in the following data:

- Only 19% of the Class of 2011 met all four ACT College Readiness Benchmarks
- Only 47% of 3rd grade students are Proficient or Advanced in Reading/ Language Arts as measured by the Tennessee Comprehensive Assessment Program (TCAP)
- Only 38% of the Class of 2011 graduated with a score of 21 or better on the ACT (goal is 73%)
- Significant achievement gaps exist at all grades and in all subject areas defined by income, race, disability and language

Acknowledging the need to accelerate improvements in our academic outcomes and recognizing that the strategies and initiatives necessary to make these improvements will require resources beyond our current level presented a compelling case for this analysis. To that end, this analysis seeks to answer three essential questions:

- 1. How are we using existing resources and what outcomes are we achieving for outcomes with those resources?
- 2. Are we using existing resources in the right way to best achieve our target outcomes?
- 3. What additional resources and strategies will improve student learning outcomes?

This information will be critical in developing a 3-5 year budget plan that will help us achieve our ambitious district goals and ensure *Excellence for All Children*.

Methodology

The development of a 3-5 year budget plan that is designed to significantly improve student learning requires a comprehensive analysis of existing revenue structures and major program initiatives. To accomplish this task, this report has examined the following areas:

- 5. Current funding sources and allocation practices
- 6. Expenditures versus student performance outcomes
- 7. Present return on investment for major district initiatives
- 8. Comparison study of other schools with similar demographics but better outcomes

Information derived from these analyses was then used to develop key recommendations for future investments.

Section I: Current Funding and Allocation Practices

How Our Schools are Funded

The Basic Education Program or BEP, established in the Tennessee Education Finance Act of 1977 (the Act), defines the formula used by the State of Tennessee to allocate state funds for K-12 education to school districts, known under that Act as Local Education Agencies (LEAs). Each year, the state uses a complex BEP formula to calculate for each LEA the "funding necessary for our schools to succeed."¹ The state then sums these individual LEA calculations to determine total BEP funding for the entire state. State funding contributes about 42% of the KCS revenue in the operating budget.

Most of the funding generated by the BEP formula is based on a particular school system's average daily student membership (ADM) applied to various categories within the formula. The calculation generates a percentage of the total cost of a 'basic' education for students, with the State percentage being further adjusted by a fiscal capacity index based on each county's *ability* to collect locally generated revenue.

The Act assigns responsibility for funding BEP to both the state and Tennessee counties. The various costs included in the BEP formula are categorized under three very broad headings for which the Act mandates different levels of shared state and county funding—

| Cost Category | State Share | Counties' Share |
|-------------------------|-------------|-----------------|
| Instructional Component | 70 % | 30 % |
| Classroom Component | 75 % | 25 % |
| Non-Classroom Component | 50 % | 50 % |

For example, 70% of the summed total of all LEA BEP "Instructional Component" calculations is to be funded by the state, while the remaining 30% is to be funded by each county. The 70% and 30% represent state-wide funding averages, not the percentages of BEP funding that any one LEA might receive from the state and its county government. The actual percentages vary widely from county to county due to the Act's "equalization" provision.

Once total BEP funding is determined by summing the results of all LEA BEP calculations, each county's portion of the local share of total BEP funding is calculated using an equalization scheme. For example, a county's share of the 30% of the total BEP "Instructional Component" is calculated by multiplying 30% of the total BEP "Instructional Component" by the county's "fiscal capacity index" which is a statistical estimate of the county's relative ability to raise revenue.² The "fiscal capacity index" reflects a county's

¹ TCA 49-3-302(3)

² The fiscal capacity index is a simple average of two "affordability" indices developed by the UT Center for Business and Economic Research and by the Tennessee Advisory Commission on Intergovernmental Relations.

local assessed property values per capita and local option sales tax per capita, and in effect, shifts the burden for higher proportions of local BEP funding to those counties where per capita local option sales tax and property tax revenues are the greatest.

The table below shows how equalization affected the Knox County local funding share of BEP costs in the three cost categories for the 2010-2011 and 2011-2012 fiscal years—

| | | <u>2010-2011</u> | | | <u>2011-2012</u> | |
|-------------------------|-----------|------------------|-----------------|-----------|------------------|-----------------|
| Cost Category | State Avg | Knox County | <u>Variance</u> | State Avg | Knox County | <u>Variance</u> |
| Instructional Component | 30.00 % | 43.85 % | 13.85 %pts | 30.00 % | 43.42 % | 13.42 %pts |
| Classroom Component | 25.00 % | 37.68 % | 12.68 %pts | 25.00 % | 37.05 % | 12.05 %pts |
| Non-Classroom Component | 50.00 % | 69.86 % | 19.86 %pts | 50.00 % | 69.23 % | 19.23 %pts |

As a consequence of "equalization," Knox County's local funding share exceeded the Act's nominal local funding share by the following dollar amounts for the fiscal years shown. (A detailed calculation is provided in Appendix A.)

| Cost Category | <u>2010-2011</u> | <u>2011-2012</u> |
|-------------------------|------------------|------------------|
| Instructional Component | \$ 23.8 million | \$ 23.7 million |
| Classroom Component | 5.8 million | 5.6 million |
| Non-Classroom Component | 19.2 million | 18.3 million |
| Total | \$ 48.8 million | \$ 47.6 million |

In each year, this "equalization" portion of the Knox County local share represented more than 12% of the Knox County Schools (KCS) General Purpose Budget. The following table is an example of how this impacts a representative group of elementary schools in Knox County.

| School Level BEP Analysis | | | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------|--|----------------------|------------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| School | BEP Formula Calculated Positions | State Funded % | State (BEP) Funded Positions | Difference between BEP formula and state funding | | | | | |
| A. L. Lotts | 58.0 | 56.15% | 32.6 | 25.5 | | | | | |
| Adrian Burnett | 35.2 | 56.15% | 19.8 | 15.4 | | | | | |
| Amherst | 38.1 | 56.15% | 21.4 | 16.7 | | | | | |
| Ball Camp | 24.2 | 56.15% | 13.6 | 10.6 | | | | | |
| Bearden | 17.4 | 56.15% | 9.8 | 7.6 | | | | | |
| Beaumont | 27.2 | 56.15% | 15.3 | 11.9 | | | | | |
| Belle Morris | 20.7 | 56.15% | 11.6 | 9.1 | | | | | |
| Blue Grass | 39.6 | 56.15% | 22.3 | 17.4 | | | | | |
| Bonny Kate | 19.4 | 56.15% | 10.9 | 8.5 | | | | | |
| Brickey-McCloud | 52.4 | 56.15% | 29.4 | 23.0 | | | | | |
| Carter | 27.1 | 56.15% | 15.2 | 11.9 | | | | | |
| Cedar Bluff | 69.9 | 56.15% | 39.2 | 30.6 | | | | | |
| All KCS Elementary | 1,391.1 | 56.15% | 781.1 | 610.0 | | | | | |

Note: The state BEP formula allocates positions on a district level. Positions allocated to individual schools are calculated based on a school's estimated proportional share of ADM.

Financing Sources

The FY 2012 operating budget contains an annual revenue projection that is \$13.2 million higher than the one included in the FY 2009 budget. Most of the projected increase in revenues comes from higher estimated State of Tennessee BEP funding (\$12.9 million, 97.8% of the projected revenue increase). The remainder (\$0.3 million, 2.25%), comes from a combination of federal, local, and non-BEP state revenue sources. While Knox County Property Tax collections are projected to increase (\$7.9 million, 7.7%), Local Option Sales Tax collections are expected to decline (-\$9.2 million, 8.5%), for a net decrease of \$1.3 million. Local Wheel and Litigation Taxes and other federal, state, and local revenue sources show a net increase (\$1.6 million, 12.1%).

| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | FY 2009 - | 2012 |
|----------------------------|----|-------|----|-------|----|-------|----|-------|----|-------|----|-------|----|-------|-----|-----------|----------|
| | FY | 2009 | + | 1- | FY | 2010 | + | 1- | FY | 2011 | + | 1- | FY | 2012 | Net | Change | % Change |
| State Funding | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| BEP | \$ | 143.4 | \$ | 5.2 | \$ | 148.6 | \$ | 5.5 | \$ | 154.1 | \$ | 2.2 | \$ | 156.3 | \$ | 12.9 | 9.0 % |
| Other | | 7.5 | | (0.9) | | 6.6 | | 1.2 | | 7.8 | | (1.3) | | 6.5 | | (1.0) | (13.3) % |
| State Total | | 150.9 | _ | 4.3 | | 155.2 | | 6.7 | | 161.9 | | 0.9 | | 162.8 | | 11.9 | 7.9 % |
| Knox County Funding | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Property Tax | | 102.9 | | 6.1 | | 109.0 | | 1.4 | | 110.4 | | 0.4 | | 110.8 | | 7.9 | 7.7 % |
| Local Option Sales Tax | | 108.6 | | (7.4) | | 101.2 | | (4.3) | | 96.9 | | 2.5 | | 99.4 | | (9.2) | (8.5) % |
| Wheel Tax | | 1.5 | | - | | 1.5 | | - | | 1.5 | | - | | 1.5 | | - | 0.0 % |
| Litigation Tax | | - | _ | 0.7 | | 0.7 | | 0.4 | | 1.1 | | - | | 1.1 | | 1.1 | |
| Knox County Total | | 213.0 | | (0.6) | | 212.4 | | (2.5) | | 209.9 | | 2.9 | | 212.8 | | (0.2) | (0.1) % |
| Federal–ROTC Reimbursement | | 0.5 | | - | | 0.5 | | - | | 0.5 | | - | | 0.5 | | - | |
| Other Local Sources | | 2.5 | | 1.3 | | 3.8 | | - | | 3.8 | | 0.2 | | 4.0 | | 1.5 | 60.0 % |
| Total Revenues | \$ | 366.9 | \$ | 5.0 | \$ | 371.9 | \$ | 4.2 | \$ | 376.1 | \$ | 4.0 | \$ | 380.1 | \$ | 13.2 | 3.6 % |



Operating Budget -- Net Change in Projected Financing by Source -- FY 2009 to FY 2012 (millions)

FY 2009 to FY 2012 Change in Funding by Source State of Tennessee **Knox County Other Sources** \$14.0 \$11.9 \$12.0 \$10.0 \$8.0 \$6.0 \$4.0 \$1.5 \$2.0 \$0.0 -\$0.2 -\$2.0

Funding from Knox County sources shows a net decline of \$200,000 from FY 2009 to FY 2012.

Operating Budget -- Projected Revenue Sources (millions) FY 2009 FY 2012



Points of Reference

For the 2010-2011 fiscal year, Knox County ranked among the Tennessee counties with the largest local share percentages in each of the three categories—

| The Five Counties with the Largest Local Share Percentages (2010-2011) | | | | | | | | |
|--|------------------|----------------------------|------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | Instructional | | Non-Classroom | | | | | |
| <u>County</u> | <u>Component</u> | Classroom <u>Component</u> | <u>Component</u> | | | | | |
| Sevier | 55.23 % | 45.33 % | 88.20 % | | | | | |
| Davidson | 50.49 % | 43.31 % | 92.68 % | | | | | |
| Knox | 43.85 % | 37.68 % | 69.86 % | | | | | |
| Hamilton | 43.33 % | 35.65 % | 69.54 % | | | | | |
| Williamson | 39.43 % | 44.78 % | 67.48 % | | | | | |
| State Average | 30.00 % | 25.00 % | 50.00 % | | | | | |
| Smallest County Share ³ | 9.39 % | 6.67 % | 13.81 % | | | | | |

³ Hancock County.

For the 2010 – 2011 fiscal year, Knox and adjacent counties had the following local share percentages in each of the three categories—

| | ,,,,,,,,,,, | | |
|-----------------------|------------------|----------------------------|------------------|
| | Instructional | | Non-Classroom |
| <u>County</u> | <u>Component</u> | Classroom <u>Component</u> | <u>Component</u> |
| Sevier | 55.23 % | 45.33 % | 88.20 % |
| Кпох | 43.85 % | 37.68 % | 69.86 % |
| Loudon | 30.63 % | 25.62 % | 50.01 % |
| Blount | 29.94 % | 26.59 % | 49.80 % |
| Roane | 28.87 % | 24.76 % | 47.25 % |
| Anderson | 26.01 % | 22.58 % | 43.59 % |
| Jefferson | 23.66 % | 18.55 % | 37.62 % |
| Union | 12.46 % | 9.33 % | 18.47 % |
| Grainger | 11.32 % | 9.08 % | 16.80 % |
| State Average | 30.00 % | 25.00 % | 50.00 % |
| Smallest County Share | 9.39 % | 6.67 % | 13.81 % |

Knox and Adjacent Counties (2010-2011)

Sevier County and Knox County are among the highest in the state. Loudon, Blount, and Roane Counties are close to the state average. Union and Grainger Counties are among the smallest in the state.

A somewhat incongruous relationship exists between the State's funding and its educational mandates. Though the state calculates its funding obligation from a system-wide lens, a school system must adhere to state mandated class size requirements at every school location. This dichotomy leads to the development of additional mandates that are unfunded.

For example, at the elementary kindergarten through grade three (K-3) level the State mandates an average ratio of one teacher for every 20 students. So, if a school system had a total of 100 first grade students, the state would fund the system (in part) for five teachers. Suppose, however, that these first grade students were housed across six different elementary schools. At least six first grade teachers would be needed in that school system. The cost of one teacher would, therefore, be funded entirely from local revenue and the cost of five teachers would be partially funded from State revenue.

It is important to note that the BEP funding formula does not dictate how schools are staffed, aside from the class size mandates in the BEP legislation.

While the state funds what is entitled the Basic Education Program, what a basic education includes is not defined. However, there are assumptions embedded into the BEP that incur an additional financial burden for many districts. For example, the state funds districts based on an average teacher salary of \$38,700 which does not account for differences in salary scales driven by market competition and cost of living adjustments. In Knox County, where the average teacher salary is \$44,588, this creates a gap of \$5,888 per position that must be funded using local dollars. This same average salary is also applied to fund assistant principals and principals, counselors, librarians, nurses and a variety of other

professionally licensed personnel, many of whom require advanced and specialized degrees and garner significantly higher salaries.

Other assumptions in the BEP formula apply to differential support for students. While the BEP does provide some additional resources to address the needs of students with disabilities and English Language Learners, it is not sufficient for many of the reasons already noted. Additionally, data used to calculate these allocations does not reflect the current student enrollment, rather it is based upon the previous year's demographics. Furthermore, curriculum enhancements that require additional and/or specialty teachers beyond the basic education formula (e.g. advanced placement, magnet schools, foreign language courses, and intervention courses) must be funded entirely by local revenue source.

Finally, the BEP does not provide any funding to support and professionally develop teachers. Professional development (including for example instructional coaches), is the sole responsibility of the local district.

In summary, it is clear that what the state defines in its funding formula as a "basic education" is insufficient to adequately meet the "basic" needs of the students in Knox County and woefully insufficient to attain the ambitious goals outlined in the Knox County Schools Strategic Plan. In absence of enhancements to the BEP, the burden is on the local community to provide adequate resources necessary to ensure *Excellence for All Children*.

Where the Money Goes

As previously noted, the state BEP formula allocates funds to districts, but does not mandate how those funds are spent, with the exception of class size mandates. The following analysis provides details about how the Knox County Schools has used its funds over time.

General Purpose Fund Operating Budget

Since FY 2009, the KCS General Purpose Fund operating budget has grown from \$370.0 to \$384.7 million, a cumulative change of slightly less than 4.0% and an average annual change of \$4.9 million or around 1.3%.



Economic constraints on budgetary growth led the district in FY 2012 to supplement the General Purpose Fund budget with slightly more than \$7.0 million in funds provided by the federal *Education Jobs Program*. These additional funds increased the amount budgeted in FY 2012 for school operations to \$391.7 million and allowed the district to preserve the equivalent of 136 teaching positions that might otherwise have been cut.

During the four year period FY 2009 to FY 2012, overall student enrollment has grown by 1,257, a cumulative 2.27%.⁴ This year, enrollment has increased 1.27% from 2011, which is more than three times the 0.41% rate of increase from FY 2010 to FY 2011.



From FY 2009 to FY 2012, total student enrollment in the district's schools has been relatively stable: Elementary school enrollment has increased by 771 (+2.9%), middle school by 390 (+3.2%), and high school enrollment has decreased by 35 (-0.2%).

⁴ All attendance figures come from ADM Period 4 reporting.

| Student Enrollment by S | School Level | High Middle | Elementary |
|-------------------------|--------------|-------------|------------|
| 16,540 | 16,608 | 16,605 | 16,505 |
| 12,359 | 12,382 | 12,606 | 12,749 |
| 26,312 | 26,478 | 26,504 | 27,083 |
| FY 2009 | FY 2010 | FY 2011 | FY 2012 |

Other than completing the merger of Cedar Bluff Intermediate and Cedar Bluff Elementary Schools in FY 2010, opening the Dr. Paul L. Kelley Volunteer Academy in FY 2010, and launching the L&N STEM Academy this year, the number of elementary, middle, and high schools has remained the same throughout the four years. To address high capacity utilization in existing high schools, Hardin Valley Academy opened in FY 2009 with an enrollment of 1,200 students, which added 258,000 square feet of school capacity to the fixed cost burden included in the General Purpose Fund budget. Hardin Valley Academy's enrollment now stands at approximately 1,900.

The KCS student body has seen a 16.0% increase in minority enrollment since FY 2009. The percentage of students in the federal free or reduced lunch program in FY 2012 is an increase over FY 2009. The percentage of students with limited English proficiency continue to grow, while the cohort having special needs remains in the historical 11.0% to 12.5% range.⁵

| | FY 2009 | FY 2010 | FY 2011 | FY 2012 |
|--------------------------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| Minority | 20.6% | 21.2% | 22.3% | 23.9% |
| Free or Reduced Lunch Status | 40.3% | 44.4% | 45.1% | 45.5% |
| Limited English Proficiency | 2.5% | 2.5% | 3.1% | 3.4% |
| Special Education Requirements | 11.0% | 11.7% | 12.3% | 11.5% |

Cost Categories and Areas of Utilization

Line item costs in the KCS General Purpose operating budget fall into six broad categories: Salaries and Wages, Taxes and Benefits, Contracted Services, Supplies and Materials, Debt Service, and Other.⁶ Salaries and wages for personal services and the related employer payroll taxes and employer

⁵ Data for 2009, 2010, and 2011 come from the Tennessee Department of Education Report Card. Data for 2012 come from the KCS data warehouse.

⁶ Budget details come from documents published by Knox County and the KCS.

contribution toward the cost of employee benefits are by far the largest categories, making up historically more than 80% of the entire budget.



Areas of Utilization

Recasting the line item budget by area of utilization reveals that spending for classroom instruction has risen from \$228.3 million in FY 2009 to \$237.4 million in FY 2012. Most of the \$9.1 million increase has been directed toward Regular Instruction (\$6.4 million, 70.3% of the increase) and Special Education (\$3.5 million, 38.5%), while CTE and Other Instructional programs have been reduced a net \$0.8 million. An additional \$7.1 million in one-time funding from the Federal Education Jobs Program was utilized in FY 2012 for regular education instruction, which is not reflected in the chart below.



Adding budgeted Instruction Support costs to the amounts budgeted for Instruction produces totals that account for approximately 80% of the total annual operating budget.



Over the four fiscal years, most of the \$14.7 million increase in the total operating budget (from \$370.0 million in FY 2009, to \$384.7 million in FY 2012) has gone into Classroom Instruction and Instruction Support (\$10.4 million, 70.8% of the \$14.7 million total) and to satisfy scheduled Debt Service and other district level requirements (\$5.0 million, 34.0%). Cost cutting in the areas of Administrative and Technology spending (-\$1.3 million, -8.9%) have more than offset modest increases in the budgeted costs of Operations, Student Transportation, and Security (\$0.6 million, 4.1%).



Salaries and Wages

The two largest cost categories in the FY 2012 operating budget—"Salaries and Wages" and "Taxes and Benefits"—make up 82.9% of the total \$384.7 million budget.



Top Ten Line Items

The largest category of the KCS salaried employees is "Teachers," and payments to teachers represent two-thirds of budgeted hourly and salaried wages, by far the single largest salaries and wages line item. Budgeted payments to employees who are included in the next nine largest line items sum to less than 25% of the total salaries and wages budget.



Comparables

In fiscal year 2011, the KCS paid classroom teachers—on average—significantly less than those who work in nearby school districts and in the state as a whole. In other comparisons, the KCS spent less from all funding sources per pupil, had higher average school enrollment, in almost all cases maintained a higher student / classroom teacher ratio, and because of the larger average size of the KCS schools, pockets of poverty, and historically low performing schools, employed relatively more principals and assistant principals, as reflected in the classroom teacher to principal and assistant principal ratios.⁷

| | | | | Sevier | | |
|--|-----------|----------|-----------|----------|----------|--------------|
| | Oak Ridge | Alcoa | Maryville | County | KCS | Entire State |
| | | | | | | |
| Enrollment (ADM) | 4,533 | 1,699 | 4,962 | 14,315 | 55,588 | 897,807 |
| Number of Schools | 7 | 3 | 7 | 23 | 76 | 1,682 |
| Average School Enrollment | 648 | 566 | 709 | 622 | 731 | 534 |
| Per Pupil Spending (\$ / ADM) | \$11,457 | \$10,342 | \$8,835 | \$8,432 | \$7,991 | \$8,591 |
| Classroom Teachers | | | | | | |
| Number | 344 | 114 | 319 | 983 | 3,735 | 65,009 |
| Average Salary | \$57,242 | \$57,032 | \$54,362 | \$47,190 | \$44,401 | \$45,891 |
| Students / Classroom Teacher Ratio | 13.2 | 14.9 | 15.6 | 14.6 | 14.9 | 13.8 |
| Principals and Asst Principals | 16 | 6 | 12 | 59 | 208 | 3,396 |
| Classroom Teachers / Principals and Asst Principals Ratio | 21.5 | 19.0 | 26.6 | 16.7 | 18.0 | 19.1 |

Fiscal Year 2011

Note: The State Report Card calculates spending based on average daily attendance (ADA). The chart above calculates on average daily membership (ADM).

Management and Supervisory Positions

As part of its focus on redirecting district resources into the schools, during the four year period FY 2009 to FY 2012, the KCS spending for management and supervisory positions has shifted from those in

⁷ Data for academic year 2011 (the latest available data) were taken from various Tennessee Department of Education files published on its web site.

district-level administrative support areas to those who work at school locations. Salaries and wages budgeted for Principals, Assistant Principals, and Counselors has increased 6.7%, while the budget for Supervisors, Directors, and Superintendents has been cut by 8.9%.



Other Operating Costs

Line items other than "Salaries and Wages" comprise \$133.9 million or 34.8% of the FY 2012 operating budget. The largest ten total \$113.4 million or 84.7% of the \$133.9 million. Three of the ten are for payroll taxes and employee benefits, a fourth is for student transportation, a fifth utilities, and a sixth debt service. These six total 77.1% of the \$133.9 million.



Adverse Budget Impacts

Over the last four years, the district has experienced very large increases in three of these line items. The increases were driven either by historical capital requirements for major maintenance and expansion of school facilities or by employee benefits policies.

Capital Requirements

The KCS' capital improvement plan initiatives for new building construction and major renovations are funded through the issuance of general obligation bonds (i.e. borrowings). School related debt incurred from these bonds is largely financed through the School Construction Fund, which is supported by sales tax revenue. However over the last several years, increases in bond indebtedness have grown at a more accelerated pace than sales tax revenue dedicated to the School Construction Fund, requiring the General Purpose (operating) Fund to subsidize this difference. Over the last four years, annual debt supplemented by the General Purpose Fund has increased almost 80%, from \$6.1 to \$10.9 million.

Employee Medical Insurance and Retirement Contributions

Even though total district employment and salaries and wages have remained relatively flat over the four years, the employer portion of medical insurance premiums paid to the state administered plan and contributions to state and local retirement funds have risen by a combined \$10.0 million. Both line items are administered by the State of Tennessee and do not lend themselves to active management at the local district level.



Cost Management Examples

Student Transportation

The budget for student transportation rose from \$12.6 million in 2009 to \$12.9 million in 2012, a modest 2.4% increase in light of recent fuel price inflation. The district's Transportation Department actively manages school bus routing and scheduling to hold the line on these costs. Consequently, even though the number of miles ridden by the KCS students each school day has increased 6.6% from 22,700 to 24,200, the number of buses used to carry them has been reduced by 5.5% from 328 to 310.



Utilities

Since 2008, the district's Maintenance Department has pursued a highly aggressive utility conservation program, which has led to a 20% reduction in overall electricity consumption, even though the district opened Hardin Valley Academy in 2009, adding 258,000 square feet of school capacity to the fixed cost burden in the operating budget. The district's 21.9 million kWh reduction in annual electricity consumption from 2008 to 2011 is nearly six times the 3.8 million kWh needed to power Hardin Valley Academy in 2011.



In summary, the vast majority of the Knox County Schools budget represents the cost of the people necessary to perform the work of education, and the annual increase in the budget since 2009 has averaged only 1.3%. That increase has not been for salaries and wages, which have remained relatively stable since 2009, but rather due to circumstances out of the Knox County Schools' direct control, mainly the impact of state-required increases in insurance premiums and retirement contributions. To maintain an essentially flat budget, the Knox County Schools has made use of grants and other time-limited resources and aggressively managed non-instructional expenses to maximize the proportion of funds available for instruction and support.

School Staffing Formulas

Recognizing that the majority of the KCS budget is designated for classroom instruction and instructional support, it is important to have a rational means of allocating personnel to individual schools. The Knox County Schools uses a budget allocation methodology, or formula, that is transparent and rational.

There is clear evidence in the research literature that illustrates the links between a student's socioeconomic status and academic achievement^{8,9}. For example, high poverty students typically start school at a disadvantage as compared to their middle and upper class peers, so they generally require additional services to mitigate learning gaps and maintain academic progress. Nearly half of the students in the Knox County Schools are classified as Economically Disadvantaged (ED) based on free and reduced lunch rates. And while every school has a percentage of ED students, many schools have higher concentrations of students living in poverty than others. To address these differences, the Knox County Schools budget allocation formulas at all three grade spans reflect differentiated resource allocations based on the percent of ED students. Other differentials include adjustments for small schools, magnet schools, reconstituted schools and high priority schools. In this manner, the Knox County Schools seeks to provide an equitable education for all students.

It is important that the current staffing model be reviewed and adjusted each year to ensure that its philosophical underpinnings translate to rational allocations. Some areas to consider are the support and administrative differences between schools of equal size at different grade spans, as well as the manner in which poverty and instructional need are addressed in the formulas.

 ⁸ Janus, Magdalena, and Duku, Eric. "The School Entry Gap: Socioeconomic, Family, and Health Factors Associated With Children's School Readiness to Learn." *Early Education & Development* Volume 18 Issue 3 (2007).
⁹ Hernandez, Donald J. "Double Jeopardy: How Third-Grade Reading Skills and Poverty Influence High School Graduation." Reported in Annie E. Casey Foundation (April 2011).

Section II: Expenditures versus Student Performance Outcomes

Research has long demonstrated the strong correlation between poverty and educational outcomes. Additional analyses also point to a strong association between poverty, educational outcomes, and the amount of money that a school district spends per pupil. Examples of award-winning school districts and countries with outcomes closer to the KCS strategic goals reinforce this belief, as their spending per pupil is also higher than in Knox County. For example, in a comparison of funding from state, local and other sources, Maryville City Schools (the SCORE Best District Winner) spends \$8,835 per pupil, Charlotte-Mecklenburg Public Schools in North Carolina (the 2011 Broad Prize winner) spends \$9,280 per pupil, while Boston Public Schools (chosen by London's McKinsey Group as one of the most promising school systems in the world) spends over \$12,000. And high performing countries such as Germany and Japan spend approximately \$9,500 and \$10,000 per pupil respectively.

These are selective comparisons, of course, and there are other factors which determine the per pupil cost and outcomes in different locations across the country and around the world. However, a comparison of the highest performing school districts in Tennessee also corroborates this correlation.

State Comparisons

Using student performance on the ACT as an outcome measure and data from all 119 Tennessee school districts that have at least one high school, a statistical regression model was estimated which demonstrates that per pupil expenditures and the level of student poverty have a statistically significant relationship with composite ACT scores in Tennessee school systems. Specifically, this regression falls along a line with the following equation:

2011 ACT Score = 19.49684 + ((State & Local Per Pupil Funding) X 0.0005622) + (Economically Disadvantaged % X -7.305375)

This regression equation (which is significant at the 0.01 level) means that ACT scores can generally be predicted by the level of poverty in a school district in Tennessee and the amount of per pupil funding committed to public education in that district. Put another way, if two Tennessee school districts have equal rates of student poverty, the one with higher per pupil spending would generally be expected to see better results on the ACT. The basic take away is that per pupil spending in Tennessee appears to have a direct correlative relationship to student outcomes, specifically ACT scores.

Output from STATA statistical software showing the specifications of the model:

| Source | SS | df | MS | | Number of obs | = 119 |
|----------------------------------|--|----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-------------------------|--|---|
| Model Residual Total | 134.926952 88.6986036 223.625555 | 2 67. 116 .76 118 1.8 | 4634759 4643134 9513183 | | F(2, 116) Prob > F R-squared Adj R-squared Root MSE | = 88.23 = 0.0000 = 0.6034 = 0.5965 = .87444 |
| act2011 | Coef. | Std. Err. | t | P> t | [95% Conf. | Interval] |
| stloc_pp ed_perc2 cons | .0005622 -7.305375 19.49684 | .0001017 .6510565 .9025087 | 5.53 -11.22 21.60 | 0.000 0.000 0.000 | .0003607 -8.594875 17.70931 | .0007637 -6.015876 21.28437 |

The table below shows the ten highest performing school districts in the state and the comparison between only the state and local per pupil expenditures in those districts versus the current Knox County School operating budget (rounded). The "Variance" column of the table illustrates the magnitude of the difference between the current KCS budget and the budget if the KCS were to spend the same amount per pupil as these other districts who achieve higher ACT scores.

| Per Pupil Expenditure Analysis | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------------|--------------|----------|---------------|-------|-----------------------|---------------|---------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| District | Enroll 09-10 | ACT 2011 | State/Loc PPE | ED% | PPE X Knox Enrollment | Current Knox | VAR | | | | | |
| MARYVILLE | 4,965 | 24.4 | \$8,422 | 33.0% | \$463,187,780 | \$385,000,000 | \$78,187,780 | | | | | |
| OAK RIDGE | 4,460 | 23.1 | \$10,998 | 45.0% | \$604,873,280 | \$385,000,000 | \$219,873,280 | | | | | |
| GREENEVILLE | 2,696 | 22.9 | \$8,779 | 44.0% | \$482,843,900 | \$385,000,000 | \$97,843,900 | | | | | |
| WILLIAMSON COUNTY | 30,517 | 22.8 | \$7,541 | 12.2% | \$414,727,830 | \$385,000,000 | \$29,727,830 | | | | | |
| ALCOA | 1,681 | 22.4 | \$9,679 | 61.3% | \$532,363,590 | \$385,000,000 | \$147,363,590 | | | | | |
| KINGSPORT | 6,439 | 21.8 | \$8,997 | 50.9% | \$494,828,785 | \$385,000,000 | \$109,828,785 | | | | | |
| JOHNSON CITY | 7,313 | 21.7 | \$8,139 | 51.4% | \$447,619,095 | \$385,000,000 | \$62,619,095 | | | | | |
| CLEVELAND | 4,801 | 20.7 | \$7,689 | 61.9% | \$422,872,450 | \$385,000,000 | \$37,872,450 | | | | | |
| SHELBY COUNTY | 47,892 | 20.7 | \$8,151 | 38.3% | \$448,297,850 | \$385,000,000 | \$63,297,850 | | | | | |
| ELIZABETHTON | 2,137 | 20.5 | \$7,913 | 56.7% | \$435,195,310 | \$385,000,000 | \$50,195,310 | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Knox County Schools

It is important to note that ACT scores are a cumulative result of twelve years of schooling and the majority of material tested on the ACT has clear foundations in the elementary curriculum. This underscores the importance of investment in elementary education to truly impact long-term outcomes.

The top two performing school districts in Tennessee in the table above, Maryville and Oak Ridge, are adjacent to Knox County, so warranted a closer review.

Contiguous District Comparisons

When student performance outcomes from the Knox County Schools (KCS) are compared to those from contiguous districts, both Maryville City Schools and Oak Ridge Schools show significantly higher outcomes. A comparison of the three school districts shows several important differences:

- The average teacher salary in Maryville and Oak Ridge is \$54,362 and \$57,242 respectively, a difference of nearly \$10,000 and \$13,000 respectively, as compared to the average teacher salary of \$44,401 in Knox County. Oak Ridge has the highest average teacher salary in the state and Maryville is 4th highest.
- Maryville and Oak Ridge both spend significantly more per student than the KCS (approximately \$800 and \$3500 per student more, respectively.) The special education population in Oak Ridge is proportionally twice that of the KCS and Maryville, which accounts for some of their higher per pupil spending.
- Of twelve schools system in the Knoxville area, only two spend less per pupil than the KCS: Jefferson County and Grainger County. Both of these school systems have lower proficiency rates and ACT scores than the KCS. Both of these systems also have higher proportions of economically disadvantaged students.
- The KCS serves a greater proportion of economically disadvantaged students (45.8%) compared to Maryville (33%).
- The KCS serves ten times as many students and manages ten times as many schools as the city systems of Maryville and Oak Ridge or Jefferson and Grainger counties.

| Comparison of Knox County | Schools to Four Kno | xville Area Schoo | ol Systems (2010-20 | 11 school year) | - |
|--|---------------------|-------------------|---------------------|-----------------|----------|
| | Knox County | Maryville | Oak Ridge | Jefferson | Grainger |
| Jurisdiction | County | City | City | County | County |
| Student enrollment (average daily membership) | 55,588 | 4,962 | 4,533 | 6,946 | 3,300 |
| Grade 3-8 achievement state letter grades (Math, | | | | | |
| Reading, Social Studies, Science) | BBBB | AAAA | AAAA | CCBC | CCCC |
| Grade 3-8 Reading Proficient/Advanced | 55.1% | 73.2% | 60.2% | 45.4% | 42.8% |
| Grade 3-8 Math Proficient/Advanced | 47.4% | 63.8% | 53.0% | 35.9% | 40.1% |
| Reading change in % P/A 2010 to 2011 | 1.5 | 4.6 | 3.0 | 6.9 | 5.9 |
| Math change in % P/A 2010 to 2011 | 5.8 | 7.5 | 3.4 | 9.1 | 13.3 |
| Grade 3-8 "value-added" state letter grades | | | | | |
| (Math, Reading, Social Studies, Science) | BCBC | AABC | CCBC | BCCD | BDBD |
| Math Value-added mean gain (3-year average) | 0.8 | 1.8 | 0.4 | 0.9 | 0.6 |
| Reading value-added mean gain (3-year average) | 0.1 | 0.5 | -0.1 | -0.2 | -1.2 |
| 2011 Graduation Rate | 86.60% | 92.10% | 87.50% | 92.30% | 91.90% |
| 2011 ACT Composite | 20.4 | 24.4 | 23.1 | 18.4 | 17.7 |
| Economically Disadvantaged Students | 45.80% | 33.00% | 45% | 64.00% | 70.50% |
| Special Education | 12.30% | 12.00% | 23% | 12.00% | 14.70% |
| Per Pupil Expenditure | \$7,991 | \$8,835 | \$11,457 | \$7,431 | \$7,173 |
| Average Teacher Salary | \$44,401 | \$54,362 | \$57,242 | \$42,123 | \$41,182 |

Highlighting indicates a significant difference from KCS.

Note: Table reflects per pupil expenditures from all sources based on ADM.

It is also noteworthy that while Oak Ridge spends significantly more than Maryville or the KCS, the absolute achievement is higher in Maryville, and the growth indicators (value-added and change in %P/A) in math are better in the KCS. Also, while the absolute achievement is lower in Jefferson and Grainger Counties, the increase in percent proficient or advanced since last year is greater than in the KCS or Oak Ridge. This highlights the importance of not only how *much* is spent, but *how* it is spent.

Knox County Outcomes Related to Strategic Plan Goals

After implementing new higher standards in school year 2009-10, data from 2010-11 showed an overall upward trend, suggesting that the increased rigor in the curriculum and higher expectations for students are having a positive impact on student learning. Some notable achievements included:

- The proportion of students scoring proficient or advanced on the Tennessee Comprehensive Assessment Program (TCAP) improved by:
 - o 1.5 % in reading,
 - o 5.8% in mathematics,
 - o 2.8% in science, and
 - o 1.9% in social studies.
- Significant gains in student achievement in mathematics were noted, including the following increases in proficiency:
 - o 10.3% increase on 5th grade TCAP
 - o 9% increase on 8th grade TCAP
 - o 3% increase on Algebra I End of Course Assessment (EOC)
- A 13% increase in students (and 49% increase in schools) achieving at least one year's student academic growth.
- Steady progress on four-year high school graduation rates from 79.3% for the class of 2008 to 86.6% for class of 2011
- An increase from 34% to 38% in the past two years on the 100/90/90/90 Composite Index, which measures the percentage of incoming high school freshmen who graduate four years later with a score of 21 or better on the ACT.
- An impressive 22% increase over the previous year in Advanced Placement (AP) test takers, marking a 243% increase since 2000. A noteworthy 59% of AP test takers scored a 3 (on a scale of 1-5) or better on the AP exam (most colleges accept a score of 3 or better).

However, while much progress has been made, academic results are still not nearly where they need to be for the KCS students to be competitive in today's challenging and increasingly global economic environment. The Knox County Schools must ensure that all students are well prepared for the next steps in life: college, a meaningful career, and/or rigorous technical training. The data indicate that the KCS still has several considerable challenges and deficiencies that must be addressed:

- Only 47% of 3rd grade students scored proficient or advanced on the reading and English/language arts TCAP.
- Only 19% of students in the class of 2011, or 685 out of 3,590 students, hit the benchmarks in all four subject areas on the ACT. The ACT benchmarks tell us whether students have a fifty percent chance of scoring a B or better in college coursework.

- A significant number of students require remedial work when they arrive at college unprepared for college-level work. In 2011, the following percentages of the Knox County Schools students required remediation at local community colleges:
 - o Pellissippi State: 68% o Roane State: 62% o Walters State: 76%
- Achievement gaps defined by income, race, disability and language can be seen in many grades and subject areas. For example, on the high school End-of-Course exam for English I, approximately 54% of economically disadvantaged students scored proficient or advanced, as compared to 86% of their non-economically disadvantaged peers; and in elementary mathematics, 56% of White students scored proficient or advanced on the TCAP, while only 26% of African-American students did. While we have made some progress in closing them, achievement gaps are also evident in ACT composite scores.
- While an increase from 34% to 38% on the 100/90/90/90 Composite Index has been achieved, the goal is 73%.

Many of the most critical initiatives outlined in the strategic plan - the very strategies that will help accelerate our effectiveness and therefore improve our students' results – have significant resource implications that our current revenue structure does not support. This analysis suggests that if we want to do better, if we want to be competitive at a regional, state and national level, we are going to need to invest more to ensure *Excellence for All Children*.

Section III: Initiative Review

Overview

As part of this budget analysis project, it was important to conduct an evaluation of several initiatives that have significant budget implications associated with them. Five major initiatives were reviewed: Project GRAD, magnet schools, Excellence Through Literacy, scheduling models, and instructional coaching. For each of these initiatives we provided an overview describing the initiative and the rationale for implementation, developed a logic model for the analysis, and identified key findings and recommendations. An executive summary of each of these analyses is provided in this report, with the full analysis for each included in the appendices.

Project GRAD

Project GRAD was partially introduced in Knox County schools in 2001-2002 to address challenges facing students and schools in the city's empowerment zone in their progress toward higher education. There were five key elements of Project GRAD which at the time had shown results in Houston: a scholarship program, classroom management/discipline strategy for elementary and middle schools, Success For All reading curriculum in grades K-5, math curriculum in grades K-8, and campus and family support. By 2004-2005, Project GRAD was fully implemented in 10 elementary, 2 middle, and 2 high schools.

Several years into the initiative, the Knox County Schools discontinued the **reading** program due to lack of significant outcomes. Until December 2011, the **math** program had been ongoing. Recent analysis shows:

- On Algebra I end-of-course tests, there was a greater percentage of students scoring basic or below basic in the cohort of students who had been in Project GRAD (PG) schools for 6 or 7 years than in the cohort who had been in PG schools for only 3 years.
- On math TCAP, two cohorts of students who went to a PG school for grades 3-5 and a non-PG school for grades 6-8 had greater growth in middle school than those who went to PG schools for all 6 years, but in a third cohort, the opposite was true.

As of January 2012, Project GRAD has decided to discontinue the math program in 2012-2013.

Project GRAD was fully implemented at Maynard Elementary in 2002-2003 as a part of a full-school reconstitution. The percent of students who were proficient or advanced on standardized tests increased from 2003 to 2005 in reading/language arts from 44.8% to 85.4% and in math from 42.9% to 87.8%.

The trend in the number of students with **discipline** infractions from 2005-2006 to 2010-2011 shows no clear trend across the two middle schools. There was a modest improvement on average at the elementary level, however there was wide variation among schools. In separate interviews, leadership representatives at Project GRAD and the Knox County Schools agreed that success of any discipline strategy is possible but depends on school-wide commitment and leadership oversight, which depend on time and priorities.

The **scholarship program**, which has granted scholarships to 20-30% of graduates at Fulton and Austin East High Schools, is designed to increase students' personal commitment to school as well as motivate them to continue their education beyond high school.

- The graduation rate at Fulton High school was the same in 2009 as it was in 2003, but after reconstitution in 2008-2009, has increased from 60% to 81.4%.
- The graduation rate at Austin East High School increased from 51.6% in 2003 to 84.2% in 2011.
- According to Project GRAD, of the 78 students in the Class of 2005 who received scholarships and went on the higher education, 22 (28%) had completed higher education as of May 2011.
 - According to the National Student Clearinghouse, of the entire KCS class of 2005 who went on to higher education, 32.5% graduated within 6 years.
 - The same rate was slightly below 9% for Fulton High School and slightly above 10% for Austin East High School.

The **Campus and Family Support (CFS)** and social services component of Project GRAD is highly schoolspecific with activities ranging from assistance with truancy to planning community engagement events (which range from monthly to bi-annual). In feedback from schools over time, where Project GRAD's involvement is appreciated, it has been because of the additional assistance for understaffed needs; where reluctance is expressed, it has related to the accountability structure and ensuring the appropriate skill set of Project GRAD staff for the work most needed. The 2010-2011 annual cost to the Knox County Schools for Project GRAD campus managers at each of 14 schools and CFS student advocates was \$1.14 million. This does not include the additional effort of teachers and principals and volunteers in implementing the activities planned through Project GRAD and the half-salaries of two directors of social services and college access paid by Fulton High School.

Following are recommendations based on the Project GRAD review:

- Based on the achievement data analysis and ambiguity of the discipline results, discontinue the academic and classroom components of Project GRAD; employ the district-wide math curriculum and coaching in PG schools and leave it to the principals' discretion which and to what extent research-based discipline strategies are employed at the school.
 - While the academic progress, particularly in the early years of the program, may have been greater than what could have been achieved without Project GRAD, the KCS is currently capable of achieving the same or better results.
 - PG math coaches for the discontinued math program should be reassessed for skills and matched to the needs of the KCS coaching model, where appropriate.

- Consider continuation of PG discipline/climate consultants in schools where discipline is a priority and the principals have valued PG's contributions to date.
- Allow continuation of the scholarship program. Work with Project GRAD to improve student tracking and data collection for analysis.
- If Project GRAD contract is to be renewed beyond the scholarship, include only Campus and Family Support and specify the following in the contract:
 - Analysis plan, jointly developed, including data and structures needed to assess progress measures and expected outcomes supporting the community and family engagement pillar of the strategic plan, with annual contingent funding milestones.
 - Clear outline of the activities and staff associated with the dollars committed.
 - Reporting structure that includes accountability of PG staff to both the principal and PG.
 - Because campus and family support is school-specific and involves the time and commitment of school staff, school leadership needs to have authority to direct PG efforts, to the extent that the direction will increase progress toward the goals defined in the KCS-PG agreement.
 - In contrast, an important value of an external partner is to build capacity and commitment where it does not already exist. So PG staff need also to be accountable to PG, which is particularly important in schools whose leadership is not as committed to or skilled in campus and family engagement.
 - The KCS- PG agreement should define the feedback to be obtained from PG's experience to identify common school needs to help build capacity and commitment district-wide.

Magnet Programs

Magnet programs were introduced in five Knox County schools in the 1990s: Austin-East High School (performing arts), Beaumont Elementary School (honors academy and fine arts) Vine Middle School (performing arts), Sarah Moore Green Elementary School (technology) and Green Elementary School (math and science). The original purpose was to desegregate these schools in response to an Office of Civil Rights lawsuit which was subsequently settled, and the programs have continued as an effort in school reform, encouraged by successful magnet schools in other states.

The logic of magnet schools as a path to school reform is to provide specialized offerings that attract students from outside the school's normal zoning to enrich student-to-student learning and raise academic expectations and involvement within the school community. In 2010-2011, there were 335 students from out-of-zone in these schools to participate in the magnet offerings. The Knox County Schools annually spends approximately \$1.46 million dollars for additional teaching positions and educational assistants, transportation and materials designated specifically for magnet programs in these five schools.

There are two important factors that influence the decision to attend a magnet school: the quality of the magnet offerings and the rigor of academic offerings. Even the perception of academic integrity can deter potential transfer students and their parents, regardless of the quality of the magnet offerings, and often the perception is based on published absolute achievement at the school which may not reflect the actual academic integrity of the school. This disconnect is the ongoing conflict for magnet programs as a model of school reform.

One indicator of academic integrity independent of absolute achievement is the significance of an "A"; is it an accurate indicator to students that they have learned what they need to know? Below are the findings from a review of grades vs. standardized tests in Knox County:

- At Beaumont, 89-100% of students earning all As and Bs also score proficient or advanced on the TCAP, on par or better than all other elementary schools in the district.
- At Green, this number is 46-57%.
- At Sarah Moore Greene, it is 23-30%, the lowest in the district for elementary schools.
- At Vine 31-42%, the lowest in the district for middle schools.
- At Austin East High School, only 34% of students with a Grade Point Average of 3.0 or better score a 21 or better on the ACT (an indicator of college and career preparedness). This number is 53% at Fulton High School and 65%-92.6% at all other schools in the district.

Based on information from a 2005 Knox County magnet evaluation and published research about other districts, many successful magnet schools and other successfully reformed schools have specific criteria for principal selection, and extensive, ongoing professional development for the teaching staff. According to extensive interviews conducted by SCORE Tennessee, turnaround schools have high expectations for students, which is manifest "not in what the administrators think they are doing, but in what the students say about what they expect of themselves."

The accompanying recommendations are modeled on the level of rigor, commitment, and scrutiny present in in magnet schools that have been successful in other states.

- 1. Ensure both a high quality academic program as well as specialized magnet offerings:
 - Develop specific criteria for personnel selection in magnet schools (both administrative and instructional).
 - Provide district participation and oversight in personnel decisions.
 - Consider reconstituting the existing magnet schools to ensure that the school leadership and instructional staff are highly effective educators and committed to the school's magnet theme.
- 2. Develop rigorous and specialized curriculum for magnet course offerings.
- 3. Provide ample resources to support the implementation of magnet offerings, such as a full-time, school-based magnet facilitator, additional teaching allocations, funds for materials and supplies and marketing, and ensure that they are used as designated.
- 4. Develop targeted plan (by school leadership) to integrate in-zone and magnet students and engage community, with defined progress measures.

- 5. Develop an assessment plan for each school and continue funding/magnet designation each year only if the pre-defined measures show progress and can be replicated (e.g., accountability measures). Also, define milestone criteria for point at which magnet school or program designation is continued or ended.
- 6. Provide professional development resources necessary to ensure high quality teaching and learning (e.g., curriculum and grading practices, impact of class size on students' expectations and quality of student-to-student learning, leadership skills and support) as well as a professional development plan specific to the needs identified during TEAM/TAP teacher observation and evaluation process.
- 7. Consider Project GRAD's role in magnet schools to raise expectations and integrate the student community.
- Assess implementation and outcomes in the new magnet programs like the L&N STEM Academy, International Baccalaureate, and Communications, and if successful, consider expansion of magnet to include themes such as Montessori, Dual Language Immersion and feeder programs to support existing magnet pathways.

Language!

Language! is a reading intervention for students in 6th grade and above, implemented as a component of the Excellence Through Literacy initiative which was launched in 2008 in response to the high rate of students reading behind grade level across the district (measured on Gates-MacGinitie test administered to 9th grade students in the fall of 2007). Through 2010-2011, Language! involved approximately 200 teachers, approximately \$200,000 per year in materials, and 5-7 literacy coaches who have helped to assess students for proper placement, conduct student reviews each semester, and ensure fidelity to the curriculum. Over 8,000 Knox County middle school and high school students have been placed in the program.

The intended short-term outcome of Language! is for participating students to be able to read on grade level which in the longer term should increase their ability to learn in all classes. Several indicators have been used in a thorough analysis of the KCS students' outcomes after successfully completing Language!.

- At least 1378 students have improved reading fluency and comprehension during Language!, representing exit rates of 19-27% based on comprehension and 24-50% based on book level.
 - If students demonstrate progress while in the program, they continue until they reach exit criteria (on average 1.7 years)
 - Students not benefiting sufficiently are moved to a different reading program (Read180 or Jamestown) which have a different structure but higher per pupil costs.
- There were statistically significant zero or negative changes in the TCAP reading/language arts RLA normal curve equivalent (NCE), overall NCE (four subjects), GPA, attendance, and Explore/Plan/ACT (a series of college and career readiness assessments). Comparisons were completed from multiple perspectives, including Language! students vs. themselves before and

after the program and vs. their grade-level or NCE-level peers. (An explanation of NCE is included in Appendix H.)

- Participating students are scheduled for 90-minute Language! classes plus a minimum of 30 minutes of language arts in middle school. The 30 minutes rather than a full class period is identified as the reason for the TCAP results, first suggested in a 2009 evaluation and now confirmed.
- 6th grade students not in Language! had significant NCE gains when the program was implemented.

Short-term indicators specific to reading are more positive.

- Periodic Language! progress reports from Language! vendor have shown average grade equivalence gains in fluency ranging from 9 months to 2 years each year from book to book (each year or semester) and gains in comprehension ranging from 4 months to 14 months book to book.
- The Gates-MacGinitie assessment in fall 2011 showed statistically significant improvement in average comprehension scores across the district, despite variation among participating schools.

Recommendations:

- Revise structure of literacy interventions in middle and high school. New structure should be developed from review of full program evaluation data with a committee of representative principals, teachers, coaches, and directors. This review should consider notable progress points for particular groups of students, opportunities for improvement in execution and targeting, fidelity of implementation, district-wide support and financial investment.
- 2. Ensure that middle school and high school students receive the full grade-level course of language arts regardless of reading-specific intervention.
- 3. Expand Language! program evaluation prior to committee review to include deeper analysis of short-term reading-specific results to help target students in middle school.

School Scheduling Models

High School and Middle Schools Scheduling

Block scheduling was implemented in high schools in the mid 1990's in response to an increase in credit requirements for graduation. The objective of the "4X4" block schedule, consisting of four 90-minute periods per day (8 classes per year) compared to the previous 6-7 year-long classes, was to allow more opportunities to obtain required credits while also allowing for electives such as fine arts, advanced placement, and vocational courses. The added benefits of a block schedule were anticipated to be improved learning due to less fragmented experiences and fewer disruptions as well as more opportunities for individual acceleration or remediation and variety in teaching methods because teachers had more time in each period and for planning. The annual cost of high school block scheduling is approximately \$4.6-5.8 million for the additional 89-112 teaching positions needed beyond the previous schedule.
Team scheduling was implemented in the middle schools, with a group of 100-125 students scheduled with a team of core content teachers. In this model, courses are taught year-round with a related arts block of 90-minutes that provides collaboration time for the core team teachers.

To determine the impact of block scheduling since its inception, we reviewed past evaluations, including reactions to the high school pilot in 1994, the comprehensive self-report by high schools in 1999, and the review presented to the school board in 2003, recent literature reviews, and longitudinal achievement data since 2003 from state report cards and the Knox County Schools data warehouse.

- The response has been overwhelmingly positive regarding preparation time for teachers.
- There has been a differential effect for student learning in particular courses in the 4X4 schedule.
 - Where benefits have been noted, they have referenced courses with "hands-on" components, such as laboratory, fine arts, and vocational/CTE.
 - Where specific concerns have been noted, they have referenced math and foreign languages and "tested" courses such as advanced placement, citing concerns about the reduced time on task (8100 minutes per semester versus previous 9100+ minutes per year) and difficulty in retention over a semester/summer break.
- Achievement data shows that the trend from 2003 through 2009 in the number of students passing Algebra I end-of-course (EOC) tests has declined every year, in contrast to EOCs in other high school courses, and in contrast to the percent of students proficient or advanced in math in middle school, which increased every year over the same time period. Of note:
 - \circ $\;$ Several high schools in Knox County have modified schedules since 2009.
 - The year-long schedule in middle school provides increased class time and daily instruction.

These findings suggest no reason to change the middle school schedule, but they do suggest high school students could benefit academically from a hybrid schedule. Therefore, we recommend:

- Allow hybrid schedules in high school, with preference for maintaining 90-minute block or double periods for fine arts, CTE, and lab courses including science, and moving to year-long schedules for math, English, and social studies. A modified schedule should include at least seven courses per academic year to ensure that enough credits could be earned for graduation (22 required by state) and to maintain some room for electives.
- 2. Annual courses should be allocated a minimum of 50 minutes for instruction to increase time on task.
- 3. Explore ways to obtain additional time on task for struggling students in both middle and high school.
- 4. The literature emphasizes the importance of skills in master scheduling to allow students the appropriate opportunities. Therefore, we recommend a portion of any savings derived from changing schedules be devoted in the budget for targeted professional development and assistance to ensure that in every school, the personnel responsible for the master schedule have the appropriate skills for the complexity of the task.

5. Development of the success card components to track the number and type of credits a student has earned and flag the student if not on track to graduate.

Elementary School Block Scheduling and Educational Assistants

Elementary schools began to implement parallel block schedules in 2004-2005, with all schools migrating to parallel block by 2008-2009 with assistance from Excellence Through Literacy funding. The parallel block contains a period where students participate in related arts while teachers have common planning time intended to improve teaching through collaboration. The yearly cost of the additional related arts teachers for this purpose is approximately \$2 million. Excellence Through Literacy also restored elementary teaching assistants to all schools, at an additional annual cost of approximately \$380,000.

To determine whether these investments have resulted in a measurable impact on student reading and language arts skills, we looked at the change in normal curve equivalent (NCE) in Grade 3-5 reading/language arts achievement data. (If the average change in NCE is greater after implementation than before, then it could suggest a change in the trajectory of student learning.) The baseline NCE was reset with the new TCAP standards, so that year was not included in the analyses.

- The district-wide change in NCE in the 1-3 years after block implementation at each school was
 modestly positive compared to the 1-3 years before and including the first year of
 implementation. However, only 28 of the 49 elementary schools had a positive change in
 trajectory, diluting the significance of the district-wide results.
- The trajectory (change in NCE) for all Grades 3-5 from 2006 to 2008 was positive, while the change was essentially zero 2009-2011, resulting from first a drop then a rebound.
 - Grade 4 and 5 both followed this overall pattern, while Grade 3 has steadily declined.
 - A single cohort of students who were in 3rd grade in 2008-2009 and 5th grade in 2010-2011 shows an increase in NCE from 3rd grade to 5th grade.

Simply the availability of common planning time has not produced the magnitude of results that should be possible for professional learning communities (PLCs). Therefore, in concert with the findings noted for the Coaching Model, we recommend:

- 1. One of the well-defined roles of a coach should be responsibility for facilitating professional learning communities including assessment of quality to inform efforts to improve the usefulness of PLCs across the district.
- To ensure that the coaching role is supported, build into the budget additional assistance for schools without assistant principals so that the temptation to tap coaches for these responsibilities will be mitigated. The skill level of the assistance should be matched to the school need.
- 3. To ensure focus, use existing formative data plus data from:
 - TEAM observations, which for the first time will provide district-wide K-2 information

- Kindergarten literacy assessments, which are now included in the data warehouse and for the first time provide district-wide basis for analysis from the students' earliest entry into the KCS.
- 4. Development of short-term progress measures that allow annual assessment of the effect of teaching assistants and the fidelity of implementation of the above recommendations to determine the feasibility of an effective parallel block model. With implementation of the common core curriculum (in K-2 in 2011-2012 and additional grades in future years), it will not be surprising to see variability in achievement data in the early years of implementation. However, if there is a decline in 3rd, 4th, and 5th grade in two straight years, and the progress measures do not show progress, at that point funding for parallel block (and possibly teaching assistants as well) could be repurposed toward root cause solutions.
- 5. Explore ways to obtain additional time on task for struggling students.

Instructional Coaching Model

The logic of instructional coaching is to provide school-based, job-embedded professional development for a community of teachers in order to raise the quality of teaching and learning across a school and build collective leadership to improve outcomes for students. Recent literature acknowledges that in order to see a measurable effect of coaching, strategic and monitored implementation is critical, particularly relationship-building, clearly defined roles and responsibilities, focus, and support.

The coaching model in the Knox County Schools (KCS) has been restructured every one to two years since 2006-2007 based on availability of funding and alternating between centralized content specialists and school-based generalists. The reporting structure has depended on the funding source, with school-based Title I coaches reporting to each principal, Project GRAD coaches reporting to Project GRAD, and district-wide coaches reporting to content supervisors. The role of all the KCS instructional coaches has included modeling lessons, accessing and interpreting data together with teachers and principals, participating in professional learning communities, helping to screen students for interventions, and conducting afterschool workshops. However, the time actually devoted to these core tasks has varied with the needs of the principal, so the day-to-day reality of a coach, particularly in elementary schools, has also included roles ranging from standardized test administrator to acting assistant principal in schools with no assistant principal.

These variations make a longitudinal analysis of elementary outcomes in reading and language arts impossible to interpret, except to say that the outcomes are varied and therefore not of the consistency or magnitude that would be expected from the size of the investment, which in 2010-2011 was upwards of \$6 million. However, the reading/literacy coaches in middle and high school who were added through Excellence Through Literacy in 2007-2008 had a slightly more focused role in implementing interventions, and an analysis of the Gates-MacGinitie reading test of 9th grade students showed a statistically significant improvement in the 2011 versus the 2007 cohorts for schools that participated in both years. (See more analysis of the intervention in the Language! section.)

One area that demonstrates the potential impact of coaching when implemented well is elementary and middle school math. Math coaches were added in 2009-2010 through Title I and their coaching assignment remained stable into the next year. In 2010-2011, there was a supervisor each for elementary and secondary and a coordinated and focused strategy for site-based after-school professional development timed to the curriculum. As a result:

- 42 of 47 elementary schools increased % proficient/advance (as high as 17.1 percentage points)
- The KCS elementary math overall % P/A increased from 45.3% to 51.4%
- 13 of 14 middle schools increased % P/A (as high as 9.3 percentage points)
- The KCS middle school math overall %P/A increased from 40.7% to 44.6%.
- Mean NCE gain was significantly above the growth standard in all grades (from 1.8 to 4.9)
- Mean NCE gain for grades 4-8 was well above the state growth (+3.1).

The above findings lead to the following recommendations in order to achieve measurable results:

- Consistent model of a full-time coach in each non-TAP elementary school (or none at all if funding not available)
- Clear roles and responsibilities focused on professional development and learning communities
- Consistent school assignments to build relationships
- All coaches should have dual reporting lines to the content supervisor for district-wide coordination and support and the building principal to coordinate services and target support to areas of need within the prescribed coaching role.
- Addition of content supervisor where necessary to ensure feasible management
- Assessment plan with funding contingent on short-term quality measures and long-term outcomes.

Section IV: Benchmark Study

Overview

How school districts allocate resources to individual schools within the district varies widely and partially reflects the educational philosophy and priorities of the district. As part of this budget analysis plan, we determined that it would be helpful to assess our funding priorities against a benchmark district with similar demographics but better student outcomes to evaluate how funding and allocation decisions impact student performance. Our hypothesis was that differences in student outcomes can be explained by differences in either the level of funding or the priorities that are funded. Through this analysis, we hoped to provide additional data to either support or dispute our operational priorities.

Methodology

Initial efforts to find a comparison district were difficult due to the size and unique nature of Knox County. The Knox County Schools serves approximately 56,000 students over a large geographic area that encompasses urban, suburban and rural communities. Districts that were similar in size to Knox County were often more homogeneous in their student populations, and districts that had more heterogeneous student populations were not comparable to the KCS in terms of size. Therefore, we decided to benchmark individual schools against other demographically similar schools in the state that were achieving better outcomes. To that end, we identified three Knox County schools at each grade span that were performing at high, low and average levels. Using the Pearson website, we then identified demographically similar schools that outperformed our schools in either pure achievement or in both achievement and growth. A survey was sent to each of these schools electronically, with followup phone calls to acquire additional detail. From this sample of 10 high schools, 10 middle schools and 17 elementary schools, we received 12 responses (3 high schools, 2 middle schools and 5 elementary schools).

Findings

From examining the practices in place at schools across Tennessee which serve student populations similar to specific Knox County schools while achieving equally strong or better student outcomes, it is clear that certain factors tend to remain fairly consistent across schools. For example, class size and ratio of administrators to teachers remains within a consistent range at the schools that responded to the Knox County Schools questionnaire. But beyond these numbers, which are relatively easy to track, there are other similar themes that arose from gathering information from the respondent schools. In summary, these themes are:

- In most schools, central office allocates the budget for school personnel based on student enrollment, and then the principal—often together with a team of teachers and others in the school---chooses who to hire, or who to recommend for the job with strong confidence that the superintendent would follow their recommendation. In all cases, the principal controls the school budget, apart from salaries/payroll, which comprises the biggest expenditure.
- 2. All schools discussed some level of effort to build in intervention time to support struggling students, address achievement gaps and increase student time on task. Many schools reported integrating intervention time into the school day, but most schools also mentioned the need to supplement the regular school days with before and after school tutoring time, as well as Saturday School for middle and high schools, so that students receive the targeted support they need.
- 3. All schools use formative assessment, although to varying degrees. Most schools report using the assistance of instructional coaches to maximize impact of formative assessment data as a tool to differentiate instruction, teach more effectively, and ensure that students meet learning objectives. A handful of schools discussed a commitment to a mastery-oriented model of teaching and learning, which they credit with improving student engagement and learning outcomes.

4. Principals described themselves as instructional leaders and school managers, and they acknowledged a tension that comes with balancing these two roles. Some principals mentioned the new state teacher evaluation as a challenge to this already difficult balance. Many principals emphasized the critical importance of hiring good teachers who are willing to learn continuously, work together, and push themselves to constantly improve. Finally, there was a clear theme of the importance of a positive school culture, including high expectations for students and teachers, accountability, collaboration, and respect.

Recommendations

- 1. Continue to provide principals with flexibility for staffing their schools via the budget allocation formula as long as decisions continue to lead to improved outcomes.
- 2. Continue to collect data to determine appropriate ratios of teachers, teaching assistants, administrators, counselors and clerical staff at all school levels.
- Explore options for more time on task at all levels informed by an examination at the school level of the amount of time during the existing school day that students are not – but could be – engaged in learning.
- 4. Implement a full-day Kindergarten program.^{10,11}
- 5. Identify strategies to extend time on task, particularly for struggling students.
- 6. Continue the use of formative assessments and build the ongoing costs into the general purpose budget as current grant funding expires.
- 7. Continue the use of the instructional coaching model per the recommendations for the initiative review.
- Consider the time impact of the new teacher evaluation model for principals. Utilize the recommendations from the TEAM Task Force to address this and other ongoing issues related to TEAM implementation.

¹⁰ *Full-Day Kindergarten: Expanding Learning Opportunities*. Policy Brief, West Ed, April 2005.

¹¹ Weiss, A.M.D.G., & Offenberg, R.J. (2002, April). Enhancing urban children's early success in school: The power of full-day kindergarten. Paper presented at the annual meeting of American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, LA.

Section V: Themes and Recommendations

Several operational themes emerged from the return on investment analyses and are present throughout the recommendations provided in this report, specifically:

- The amount of time students are engaged in learning a subject and their level of expectations for themselves are directly proportional to academic outcomes.
- Clearly defined roles and skills matched to role can make or break an initiative.
- Outcomes of an educational initiative depend on fidelity of implementation. Fidelity of implementation requires consistency in focus and support. The level of focus and support depends on the level of leadership and investment.
- Appropriate data for decision-making requires an infrastructure and culture of assessment and accountability to investments from the outset.

Below is a summary of the operational recommendations associated with each of these themes, with rationale and highlights from the details provided in the initiative review section above. These recommendations are designed to maximize the return on our investment.

Time on Task and Student Expectations

- Scheduling Models: Maintain current middle school schedule but allow hybrid scheduling in high school. As indicated by previous evaluations, current literature and longitudinal math data for the KCS, high school 90-minute block or double periods are most appropriate for fine arts, lab (science), and CTE courses; but for math, English, social studies, and AP classes annual schedules which provide continuity and cumulative time are more appropriate for retention and to cover the material in the necessary depth. Additional recommendations include minimum of seven courses available per academic year and minimum of 50 minutes per class period to ensure enough credits could be earned for graduation (22 required by state) and to maintain some room for electives. Additional risks to manage include equitability in teacher planning, consistency across the district for mobile students, and variation in skills at master scheduling.
- Excellence Through Literacy: Revise structure of literacy interventions in middle and high school. Ensure that middle school and high school students received the full grade-level course of language art regardless of reading-specific intervention. As illustrated in a thorough analysis of the outcomes of students after the Language! intervention in middle school and high school, while the reading-specific assessments have shown progress across the district, the reading/language arts standardized test scores and other outcome indicators for Language! students have stayed the same or significantly decreased, most plausibly due to the current structure of the program which requires only 30 minutes minimum of language arts in addition to the reading intervention. So the recommendations refer to an appropriate restructure to build on the reading successes and address the time-on-task deficits for language arts.

- Magnet and Project GRAD: Increase academic rigor in magnet schools and continue Project GRAD scholarship program. This recommendation is based on indicators of academic rigor by school, Project GRAD school graduate outcomes, analyses of successful magnet programs, and published literature and analysis by external organizations about the relationship of *student* expectations on student achievement. Specific recommendations to increase academic rigor include specific criteria for personnel selection and/or considering school reconstitution where necessary to ensure highly effective instruction and commitment to rigor, then providing professional development resources necessary to ensure high quality learning that addresses issues such as curriculum and grading practices, impact of class size on student's expectations and quality of student-to-student learning, the skills and support of leadership, and the needs identified during the TEAM/TAP process. Further recommendations regarding student expectations include a targeted plan developed and executed by school leadership to integrate in-zone and magnet students and engage the community, with defined progress measures.
- Benchmarking: Explore options for more time on task at all levels informed by an examination at the school level of the amount of time during the existing school day that students are not – but could be – engaged in learning. Based on interviews with schools in Tennessee achieving better outcomes compared to matched schools in Knox County, successful schools each have a focus on maximizing time on task ranging from increasing the productivity in an existing day (for example, through transition time activities in elementary and strategies or walk-arounds to ensure teaching/learning bell to bell in middle and high schools) to more extensive efforts such as extended day, Saturday school, and full-day kindergartens.

Defined Roles and Appropriate Skills

Instructional Coaching Model and Excellence Through Literacy (Elementary): Clearly define a feasible set of coaching roles and responsibilities focused on professional development and facilitation of professional learning communities (PLCs). While the investment was large for roles including the title of "coach", the time spent on activities directly related to professional development and sharing best instructional practices was considerably less, as the day-to-day activities of a coach have varied widely by the needs of the schools. So while pockets of success have been anecdotally attributed to coaches, any measurable effect has been diluted at a district-wide level by variation. Recent literature notes this as an issue in other districts as well, however the benchmarking study revealed that more successful matched school in Tennessee do still employ the instructional coaching model, and because there are pockets of success in Knox County as well -- particularly in fidelity of implementation of Language! leading to improved reading skills and the successful targeted professional development strategies employed by elementary and middle school math coaches last year – the coaching model is still warranted. Therefore the recommendation is designed to maximize the outcomes of the investment by maximizing the amount of the investment applied to activities directly linked to the intended results, which first requires defining those activities.

- Project GRAD: Discontinue academic components; for remaining PG math coaches, assess skills and match to the KCS instructional coaching model, where appropriate. If the Project GRAD partnership is going to be extended beyond the scholarship program in future years, define in the contract details of the activities and staff associated with the KCS dollars committed as well as a reporting structure that includes accountability to PG staff and principal. Based on quantitative analysis of outcomes for Project GRAD is not currently a good match for the Knox County Schools on a district-wide basis. The classroom management component/ climate consultants might be appropriate at particular schools at the principal's discretion. In schools where Project GRAD has been perceived as beneficial, the PG staff have had the skills to provide assistance for the specific needs of the school, but in other schools the skills and services provided were not perceived as a match for needs. These recommendations are designed to ensure that any continued partnership with Project GRAD in the role of campus and family support will provide the most beneficial services that will match both school-level and district-wide needs and be executed at a level commensurate with the investment.
- Block scheduling: Targeted professional development to ensure that in every high school, the
 personnel responsible for the master schedule have the appropriate skills for the complexity
 of the task. Recent literature emphasizes the importance and complexity of master scheduling
 to maximize opportunities for students in a modified or hybrid block schedule.
- Magnet: Develop specific criteria for staff selection and consider reconstitution where necessary to ensure highly effective education. A comprehensive 2005 evaluation of magnet schools in Knox County compared to other states identified that the most successful magnet programs have defined the skills required by both administrators and teachers and hired/staffed accordingly. In Knox County, the proficiency rate at Maynard Elementary nearly doubled in the two years following reconstitution in 2002-2003, and the graduation rate at Fulton High increased from 60% to 81.4% in the two years following reconstitution in 2008-2009. Such a reconstitution in our failing magnet schools is needed in order to achieve their intended promise and outcomes.
- Benchmark: Continue to provide principals with flexibility for staffing their schools via the budget allocation formula *as long as decisions have and continue to lead to improved outcomes.*

Focus, Consistency, and Support

- Instructional Coaching Model:
 - Build into the budget additional assistance matched to need for schools that that do not have assistant principals: This will ensure that principals have the appropriate support so that instructional coaches can focus on their defined role and not be tapped for other responsibilities.
 - Maintain a model of a full-time instructional coach in the elementary school and consistent school assignments. If funding is not available for all schools to have instructional coaches, then some schools would not have a coach, and therefore a determination would need to be made for the priority of assigning coaches (with recommendation to include matching skills with need). Historically, the KCS has changed the assignment of coaches depending on funding to ensure that every school at least has some time with a coach. However, recent literature and feedback from principals, coaches, supervisors, and teachers emphasizes the need for a solid relationship between the coach and each teacher and the collective PLC, as well as the principal, in order for the coaching model to be received and effective. This extent of relationshipbuilding takes time, and the fewer days a coach is in the building, the more school years it will take to build.
 - Implement a supervisory structure for instructional coaches to report to content supervisors as well as principals to ensure district-wide coordination and support. Historically, some coaches have reported to the principal and some to content supervisors, depending on the source of funding, which has contributed to the dilution of focus and ambiguity in roles.
- Magnet: Develop rigorous and specialized curriculum for magnet focus offerings, and provide ample resources to support implementation. Lack of a permeating commitment to magnet program and a cohesive magnet school plan were identified in the 2005 evaluation as primary obstacles to the success of the Knox County Schools' magnet schools compared to other states' magnet schools. Therefore, a committed magnet program would include a full-time schoolbased magnet facilitator, additional teaching allocations, specialized curriculum, funds for materials and supplies and marketing, and oversight to ensure that resources are used as designated.
- **Staffing formulas:** It is important that the current staffing model be reviewed and adjusted each year to ensure that its philosophical underpinnings translate to rational allocations. Some areas to consider are the support and administrative differences between schools of equal size at different grade spans, as well as the manner in which poverty and instructional need are addressed in the formulas.

All present and future initiatives: Develop assessment plan including short-term • fidelity/quality measures and longer-term outcome indicators and workload priorities. A clear logic model of the investments associated with an initiative, the activities of the initiative and the expected short-term progress (including fidelity and quality) and long-term outcomes together with a means of tracking information that allows for periodic assessment of progress toward the goals are necessary to maintain focus and manage risks to outcomes. Risks include unfeasible management structures where oversight is critical to success, as in the case of 50 or more direct reports to a single supervisor, director, or principals with an expectation to mentor and support and manage as well as coordinate efforts across the district or school. The addition of one content supervisor in math in 2010-2011 (for a total of 1 elementary and 1 middle school) contributed to a focused strategy, coordinated communication, and measurably better outcomes in elementary and middle school. An instructional coaching focus on PLCs could pick up where principals have had to shift focus due to the time required to implement TEAM. In terms of staff workload, the recurring theme in feedback during this process is that the biggest risk to outcomes for the initiative is time to do them all, particularly with the advent of TEAM, so prioritizing or redistributed workload will at least coordinate efforts to maximize the likelihood of results even with limited resources.

Culture of Data Driven Decision-making (Quantitative and Qualitative)

- All present and future initiatives: Develop and execute assessment plan as noted above, including collection of data/information from the outset and funding contingent on short-term quality and progress measures and project milestones for termination or expansion based on achievement of outcomes. The execution of an assessment plan, including collection of the necessary information, is in itself a work effort and needs to be acknowledged in priorities. The quality or amount of appropriate data available directly impacted the ability to perform analyses and the utility of analyses for this return on investment project. To build capacity in analysis across the district so as not to create a bottleneck as the demand for analyses increases, the work for periodic assessment should be distributed across the stakeholders for the initiative. Note: Where data needs have been defined and a process developed for collection (with data entry often required at the school level), data back to 2005-2006 has been included in the data warehouse and used for the enclosed quantitative analyses.
- Project GRAD: Develop in coordination with Project GRAD an analysis plan including agreedupon structure and content for tracking and data collection regarding students in the scholarship program. If the partnership is to continue beyond the scholarship program, include an expanded analysis plan with short-term progress and quality measures and expected longterm outcomes and annual funding contingent on milestones and quality of execution. In addition to the matching of services to need as noted above, a source of tension between the KCS and Project GRAD has been the transparency of analysis and accessibility of data to determine the impact vs. investment.

- Middle and high school reading interventions: Convene a representative selection of
 principals, teachers, instructional coaches, and directors to review full program evaluation
 data for Language! and develop a data-driven course of action. This is necessary to design the
 best intervention program for students based on data and stakeholders with several years of
 experience with the intervention. It will also be an opportunity to build capacity for analysis and
 model data-driven decision-making, including consideration of notable progress points for
 groups of students, opportunities for improvement in execution and targeting, fidelity of
 implementation, district-wide support and financial investment.
- Elementary school scheduling model (parallel block) and instructional coaching: Ensure focus in elementary PLCs with coaches to facilitate and assess quality and continue to collect data to assess appropriate staffing ratios and the effect of full Excellence Through Literacy investment. As recommended for all initiatives, develop short-term progress measures that allow annual assessment of the effect of teaching assistants and adherence to the roles according to pre-defined logic model and goals. As coaches facilitate PLCs, they should use an existing PLC rubric to assess quality and inform efforts to improve the quality and usefulness of PLCs across the district, as well as focus efforts according to needs identified through formative data plus data from TEAM observations and kindergarten literacy assessments (which are now in the data warehouse and for the first time provide district-wide basis for analysis from the student's earliest entry into the KCS.) Formative assessments are used in all benchmarked schools so should be built into the long-term operational budget for the KCS. The feasibility of an effective parallel block model will be determined through the short-term progress measures and multi-year outcomes measures if developed as recommended. If goals are not met by the defined milestone point, the Excellence Through Literacy investment could be repurposed toward root cause solutions (many of which may be identified during the periodic assessments).

Conclusion

These recommendations and analyses support the broader priorities for more instructional time for students, enhanced instructional support for teachers, interventions for struggling students and enrichment opportunities for excelling students, consistently excellent magnet programs, and expanded performance pay to recruit and retain the very best educators. However, these priorities are simply not within reach of the Knox County Schools' current revenue structure and instructionally-focused budget. This analysis suggests that if the Knox County Schools wants to accelerate and enhance student growth and achievement and compete at regional, state and national levels, additional investment will be needed. Therefore, it is recommended that the district develop a five-year budget proposal that identifies priority areas for additional resources based on these findings and an assessment plan and progress measures that lead toward the anticipated impact on student achievement and attaining the district's ambitious goal of *Excellence for All Children*.

Appendix A: Calculation of Knox County Local Share of BEP

| | 2010-2011 | 2011-2012 | | | |
|---|------------------|------------------|--|--|--|
| Instructional Component | | | | | |
| Total of LEA Funding Calculations | \$ 3,110,811,000 | \$ 3,180,964,000 | | | |
| Local Share Percentage | 30.00% | 30.00% | | | |
| Local Share of the Total | \$ 933,243,000 | \$ 954,289,000 | | | |
| Knox County Fiscal Capacity Index | 8.08% | 8.02% | | | |
| Knox County Local Share | \$ 75,406,000 | \$ 76,534,000 | | | |
| Knox LEA BEP Calculation | \$ 172,030,000 | \$ 176,249,000 | | | |
| Knox County Percent Share of Knox LEA BEP | 43.85% | 43.42% | | | |
| Nominal County Local Share | 30.00% | 30.00% | | | |
| Additional Knox County Local Share | | | | | |
| Percentage | 13.85% | 13.42% | | | |
| Dollars | \$ 23,831,000 | \$ 23,659,000 | | | |
| Classroom Component | | | | | |
| Total of LEA Funding Calculations | \$ 849,143,000 | \$ 866,933,000 | | | |
| Local Share Percentage | 25.00% | 25.00% | | | |
| Local Share of the Total | \$ 212,286,000 | \$ 216,733,000 | | | |
| Knox County Fiscal Capacity Index | 8.08% | 8.02% | | | |
| Knox County Local Share | \$ 17,153,000 | \$ 17,382,000 | | | |
| Knox LEA BEP Calculation | \$ 45,540,000 | \$ 46,917,000 | | | |
| Knox County Percent Share of Knox LEA BEP | 37.68% | 37.05% | | | |
| Nominal County Local Share | 25.00% | 25.00% | | | |
| Additional Knox County Local Share | | | | | |
| Percentage | 12.68% | 12.05% | | | |
| Dollars | \$ 5,773,000 | \$ 5,653,000 | | | |
| Non-Classroom Component | | | | | |
| Total of LEA Funding Calculations | \$ 1,668,791,000 | \$ 1,643,466,000 | | | |
| Local Share Percentage | 50.00% | 50.00% | | | |
| Local Share of the Total | \$ 834,396,000 | \$ 821,733,000 | | | |
| Knox County Fiscal Capacity Index | 8.08% | 8.02% | | | |
| Knox County Local Share | \$ 67,419,000 | \$ 65,903,000 | | | |
| Knox LEA BEP Calculation | \$ 96,545,000 | \$ 95,190,000 | | | |
| Knox County Percent Share of Knox LEA BEP | 69.86% | 69.23% | | | |
| Nominal County Local Share | 50.00% | 50.00% | | | |
| Additional Knox County Local Share | | | | | |
| Percentage | 19.86% | 19.23% | | | |
| Dollars | \$ 19,175,000 | \$ 18,308,000 | | | |
| Total Additional Knox County Local Share | \$ 48,779,000 | \$ 47,620,000 | | | |

Appendix B: Review of Project GRAD

Introduction and Key Elements of the Initiative

In 2001, Project GRAD was introduced in 14 schools in the Knox County empowerment zones to address challenges facing students and schools in their progress toward higher education. There were five key elements of Project GRAD which at the time had shown results in Houston: a scholarship program, classroom management/discipline strategy for elementary and middle schools, Success For All reading curriculum in grades K-5, math curriculum in grades K-8, and campus and family support. By 2004-2005, Project GRAD Knoxville (PG) was fully implemented in 10 elementary, 2 middle, and 2 high schools. Project GRAD and the Knox County Schools have shared the costs of implementation. The 2010-2011 cost to the Knox County Schools for Project GRAD campus managers at each of 14 schools and campus and family support student advocates was \$1.1 million, not including the additional effort of teachers and principals and volunteers in implementing the activities planned through Project GRAD and the half-salaries of two directors of social services and college access paid by Fulton High School. Below is a logic model linking the investment areas (the KCS and PG) to intended outcomes.

| INPUTS | | | | |
|---|---|--|--|--|
| Investments | Activities | Reach | Intended Outcomes | |
| KCS: \$1.1 million in 2010-2011 to PGK for Campus and Family Support (CFS) | Communities in Schools/ Campus and Family Support: Attend to truancy and family problems that prevent learning | 14 schools in empowerment zones (inner city) - 10 elementary, 2 middle, and 2 high schools | Increased commitment to school and expectations for learning and college- going (higher culture of expectations, students and family) | |
| PGK: Scholarship coordinators and \$1000 per year per scholarship for qualifying students | College scholarships for high school students who opt in and complete PGK- defined requirements including summer institute | In 2011, 112 new graduates from Fulton High School and Austin East (~665 AE & Fulton graduates since 2005) | Students have greater commitment to graduation, ownership of their education, and better preparation for college | |
| PGK: Climate consultants | Classroom management/discipline plan in all classes | All PGK schools | Orderly classroom envronment so teachers and students can focus on learning | |
| PGK: Academic coaches | Academic programs for math (Movelt) and formerly for literacy (Success for All, withdrawn ~2007) | All PGK elementary and middle schools | Math: Preparation for Algebra I (better preparation for college academics) | |
| KCS: School personnel time for planning and implementation of all PGK activities | | | | |

Project Grad Knoxville (PGK) Logic Model

Methods

Quantitative outcome indicators were reviewed by statistical comparison and trend analysis against implementation and school history. Academic data was available in the Knox County data warehouse (since 2005-2006) and prior data was obtained from state report cards. Scholarship recipient totals were provided by Project GRAD. The implementation timeline and other qualitative information were obtained from Project GRAD board minutes, the assessment plan from original implementation, two previous evaluations, feedback received over time from schools, and meetings with Project GRAD.

Findings and Analysis

Implementation Timeline

2001-2002: Scholarship and classroom management (CMCD[™]) components implemented all schools 2002-2003:

- Project GRAD fully implemented in Maynard (pilot) as part of school reconstitution
- Social services component of Project GRAD implemented in all schools
- 2003-2004: Project GRAD math curriculum implemented K-8 2004-2005:
 - Project GRAD reading curriculum (Success for All) implemented K-5
 - Project GRAD now fully implemented in all schools.
- 2007-2008: Success for All discontinued by the KCS due to lack of outcomes

2008: Project GRAD cancelled CMCDTM contract and continued discipline component of Project GRAD with some elements of CMCDTM mixed with other research

Jan 2012: PG decides to discontinue academic curriculum, including funding for math coaches.

As noted where relevant in the trend reviews below, since 2001 there have also been substantial leadership changes, accountability legislation changes which may reasonably have contributed substantially to improvements realized.

Academic Outcomes: Elementary

- A trend graph of Project GRAD schools versus non-Project GRAD schools shows achievement gap closure in math from 2003-2004 to 2008-2009, more than half occurring in the first year after implementation, which coincided with principal turnover in 6 of the 10 Project GRAD elementary schools and the advent of No Child Left Behind legislation, including subgroup accountability.
- Reading/language arts gap change from 2002-2003 to 2006-2007 was not significant, precipitating the discontinuation of the PG reading curriculum in the KCS.



| | 2002-2003 | 2003-2004 | 2004-2005 | 2005-2006 | 2006-2007 | 2007-2008 | 2008-2009 | 2009-2010 | 2010-2011 |
|------------------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| Gap PG vs. Non-PG RLA | 16.1 | 24.2 | 17.9 | 15.6 | 15.3 | 13.4 | 13.7 | 31.2 | 25.5 |
| Gap PG vs. Non-PG Math | 22.1 | 21.8 | 14.8 | 12.0 | 13.4 | 11.4 | 10.8 | 18.5 | 19.1 |

• Trends graphs for each school provide more insight in the variation within the overall results:







• Trends for Project GRAD middle schools also show variation that coincide t with leadership changes.



- An analysis of math TCAP for students who were in Knox County schools for grade 3-8 and specifically at a PG elementary school 2004-2006, 2005-2006 or 2006-2008 showed that two cohorts of students who went to a PG school for grades 3-5 and a non-PG school for grades 6-8 had greater growth from 3rd grade to 8th grade than those who went to PG schools for all 6 years; but in a third cohort, the opposite was true. These findings were statistically significant with a 95% confidence limit.
- In a year by year analysis, overall, PG students grew one years' worth of learning each year, but the **achievement gap** between students who were not in a PG school at all and who were in a PG school for 6 years **either stayed the same or grew**.

Classroom and Campus Environment

- There was an overall improvement in the number of elementary students with discipline infractions from 2005-2010, however there was variation from school to school and acknowledgement that success of any discipline strategies are dependent upon leadership commitment to execution, monitoring and enforcement. There were no consistent discipline trends in middle or high school.
- The **Campus and Family Support (CFS)** and social services component of Project GRAD is highly school-specific with activities ranging from assistance with truancy to planning community engagement events.
- According to billing by Project GRAD, Campus and Family Support is the only component billed to the Knox County Schools. The bill in 2010-2011 was \$1.1 million, not including the additional effort of teachers and principals and volunteers in implementing the activities planned through Project GRAD and the half-salaries of two directors of social services and college access paid by Fulton High School.
- The frequency of campus and community events range from monthly to bi-annual, and in the past two years at least have been designed based on interviews with schools staff. Available records are not conducive to more detailed analysis.
- In feedback from schools over time, where Project GRAD's involvement is appreciated, it has been because of the additional assistance for understaffed needs. Where reluctance has been expressed, it has related to the accountability structure where Project GRAD staff in schools report only to Project GRAD leadership, as well as mismatches between the skill set of Project GRAD staff and school needs.

Academic Outcomes: High School

Project GRAD inclusion in elementary and middle school was intended to better prepare students for high school and beyond.

- On Algebra I end-of-course tests, for students who had been in Project GRAD schools for 3-7 years, a greater proportion scored basic or below than proficient or advanced.
- Algebra I end-of-course tests also showed that a greater percentage of students scored basic or below basic in the cohort of students who had been in PG schools for 6-7 years than in the cohort who had been in Project GRAD schools for only 3 years. These findings were statistically significant with a 95% confidence limit.
- The graduation rates have increased in the two PG high schools from 2006 to 2011. The majority of the change at Fulton High School has occurred since reconstitution of the school in 2008-2009; graduation rates there nearly doubled from 2008 to 2011.
- Approximately 20-30% of the senior class at Austin-East and Fulton have received PG scholarships each year.



Post-Secondary Outcomes

• According to Project GRAD, of the 78 students in the Class of 2005 who received scholarships and went on to higher education, 22 had completed higher education as of May 2011.



- Twenty-two (22) of 78 represents a rate of 28% of students who opted into the scholarship who completed higher education within 6 years. (The definition of higher education used by Project GRAD in these numbers is unknown at this time.)
- According to the National Student Clearinghouse, of the entire KCS class of 2005 who went on to an associate's or bachelor's degree program, 32.5% graduated within 6 years.
 - The same rate was slightly below 9% for all of Fulton High School graduates and slightly above 10% for Austin East High School graduates.
- The scholarship coordinators at Project GRAD in the last couple of years at least have continued to provide support to students while in college, arranging social gatherings with other PG alum and helping students to find academic services when needed.

Conclusions

The above analyses reinforce Project GRAD's decision to discontinue Project GRAD math. There is evidence to support continuation of the scholarship program, although more transparent tracking is needed to best analyze future outcomes. The remaining two pillars have had highly school-specific and varied implementation, and a number of schools would like to keep PG assistance provided they have some authority over the staff in their schools and matching of skills with need. However, for any future analysis (quantitative or qualitative) of activities and impact, there is a need for a clear articulation of the link between activities and intended results, quality and quantity expected, resources to be applied, and agreed-upon and transparent tracking.

Appendix C: Review of Magnet Programs

Introduction and Key Elements of the Initiative

Magnet programs were introduced in five Knox County schools in the 1990s with the original purpose of desegregating the schools in response to an Office of Civil Rights lawsuit. The lawsuit was subsequently settled, and the programs have continued through the past decade as an effort in school reform, encouraged by successful magnet schools in other states. The logic of magnet schools as a path to school reform is to provide specialized offerings that attract students from outside the school's normal zoning to enrich student-to-student learning and raise academic expectations and involvement within the school community.

| INPUTS | > OUTPUTS | | | |
|---|---|--|---|--|
| Investments | Activities | Reach | Intended Outcomes | |
| Total magnet-specific allocation: \$1.46 million annually for additional teaching positions and | For students with special interests, provide viable school choice option to obtain specialty-specific learning/opportunities. | 335 students from outside school zones in 2010-2011 | Short-term: Attract students from outside the feeder pattern/zone | |
| transportation and materials designated specifically for magnet programs | Attract and create a diversified student body and school community | Through 2010-2011: 5 city schools (Austin-East High School, Beaumont Elementary, Green Elementary, Sarah Moore Greene Elementary, Vine Middle) | Original intent (1996): Desegregation per Office of Civil Rights lawsuit | |
| | | | Current intent: Enrich student-to- student learning to raise academic expectations and involvement within students and families/school community Long-term: Improved academic outcomes for all students in the school | |

Magnet Programs Logic Model

Methods

Information for this review was collected from previous Task Force notes, current magnet program coordinator analysis and presentations, information available to the public on the Knox County internet sites, literature review, and a comprehensive evaluation of magnet schools conducted in 2005. Quantitative analyses focused on indicators of academic rigor.

Findings and Analysis

There are clearly two important factors that influence the decision to attend a magnet school: the quality of the magnet offerings and the rigor of academic offerings. Perceptions are as important as reality in the decision.

Magnet Offerings

Below is a summary of the information easily accessible on a public website regarding magnet offerings at each of the five magnet schools.

- Beaumont Magnet Elementary and Honors/Fine Arts Academy
 - Learning Expedition program includes grade level trips to area museums three times every nine weeks, on-site lessons tailor-made from the KCS science and social studies curriculum on-site, followed by project-based works of art showcased quarterly at Exhibit Openings.
 - Fine arts curriculum includes instrumental and vocal music, visual and performing arts, and spring dance/drumming showcase with Vine and Austin East.
 - Honors Academy K-5 is comprised of accelerated classes in all core subjects areas. There is a focus on problem solving and project-based learning.
- Vine Middle Magnet Performance Arts Academy
 - After School Academy includes Dance Company (Modern and West African), West African drums, Art Honors Society, Orchestra, Band, Video Production, Lego League and Academic Programs
 - Performances in 2010-2011 were a holiday concert and Kwanzaa assembly, Black History Month dance show at different schools, and the spring dance/drumming showcase with Beaumont and Austin East.
- Sarah Moore Greene Magnet Technology Academy
 - The focus on communications and media includes opportunities to use document cameras, digital cameras, video cameras, Active Boards, and to participate in Video Conferencing, video editing, and animation.
 - There is an onsite television production studio where students operate daily news broadcasts.
 - Students rotate once every six school days to the technology lab. In the instruction lab, students learn computer and software operations and programs that reinforce classroom skills. In advanced computer lab, students are exposed to various computer activities such as robotics, Claymation, Lego League and publishing.
 - There are two technology classes (grades K-2 and grades 3-5).
- Green Magnet Math and Science Academy
 - Students participate in a math lab and science lab one day per week.
 - Lab includes opportunities to explore, observe, predict, and write about experiences as they relate to the real world, partnered with Americorp and the Discovery Center.
 - Public class schedules show 30-35 min. of science/social studies per day.

- Austin-East Magnet High School
 - Performing Arts classes include technique, performance, and exhibition skills, ballet, modern dance, tap, West African dance and drumming, and training with guest artists.
 - Performances last year were the AE Dance Company "Voices" fall concert of student choreography and the spring dance and drumming showcase with Beaumont and Vine.

Academic Offerings

Even the perception of academic integrity can deter potential transfer students and their parents, regardless of the quality of the magnet offerings. For example, in one year 44 students withdrew applications for Beaumont when the state report card revealed that the school did not meet its "adequate yearly progress" (AYP) goals.

However, the absolute achievement levels in a magnet school do not necessarily reflect the actual academic *rigor* of the school. This is an ongoing struggle for the evaluation of magnet programs, because when used as a model for school reform, they are, of course, introduced in schools with lower academic achievement.

One indicator of academic integrity independent of absolute achievement is the significant of an "A"; is it an accurate indicator to students that they have learned what they need to know? In looking at grade point average (GPA) versus ACT scores for each high school, while in general students with higher GPA do score better on the ACT test, a GPA of 4.0 at Austin-East (AEHS) is reflected in only an average score of 22 ACT, whereas at Farragut High School students with 4.0 on average score close to 30.



Another way of looking at GPA versus ACT is the percentage of students who have a GPA of 3.0 or better, which would generally be considered a good GPA, who achieved a composite score of 21 or better on the ACT, which is generally considered an indicator of college and career preparedness.

| Top Grades vs. Whestone scores on Standardized Tests by School - ACT | | | | | | | | |
|--|-----------------------|-----------------------|--------|-----------|--|--|--|--|
| 2000 2011 (His | h School Final Grade) | | ACT 21 | or Better | | | | |
| 2009-2011 (11g | No | Yes | | | | | | |
| Austin-East High | GPA 3.0 or Better | GPA 3.0 or Better Yes | | | | | | |
| Bearden High | GPA 3.0 or Better | Yes | 11.2% | 88.8% | | | | |
| Carter High | GPA 3.0 or Better | Yes | 34.6% | 65.4% | | | | |
| Central High | GPA 3.0 or Better | Yes | 24.7% | 75.3% | | | | |
| Farragut High | GPA 3.0 or Better | 3.0 or Better Yes | | 92.6% | | | | |
| Fulton High | GPA 3.0 or Better | Yes | 46.9% | 53.1% | | | | |
| Gibbs High | GPA 3.0 or Better | Yes | 32.9% | 67.1% | | | | |
| Halls High | GPA 3.0 or Better | Yes | 24.4% | 75.6% | | | | |
| Hardin Valley Academy | GPA 3.0 or Better | Yes | 17.0% | 83.0% | | | | |
| Karns High | GPA 3.0 or Better | Yes | 29.9% | 70.1% | | | | |
| Powell High | GPA 3.0 or Better | Yes | 31.4% | 68.6% | | | | |
| South-Doyle High | GPA 3.0 or Better | Yes | 28.9% | 71.1% | | | | |
| West High | GPA 3.0 or Better | Yes | 17.6% | 82.4% | | | | |
| Knox County | GPA 3.0 or Better | Yes | 22.2% | 77.8% | | | | |

Top Grades vs. Milestone scores on Standardized Tests By School - ACT

In a similar comparison for middle and elementary schools, the tables below shows the percentage of students who earned all A's or B's who achieved a level of proficient or advanced on the Tennessee Comprehensive Assessment Program (TCAP). The green highlighting indicates the three schools with the higher percentages, and the red highlighting indicates the schools with the lowest percentages.

| Top Grades vs. Milestone scores on Standardized Tests By School - TCAP Middle School | | | | | | | | |
|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 2010-2011 | MATH % of students with all A's and B's in Math Department courses who were Proficient or Advanced on Math TCAP | READING/LANGUAGE ARTS % of students with all A's and B's in Reading and Language Arts Dept. courses who were Proficient or Advanced on Reading/Language Arts TCAP | SCIENCE % of students with all A's and B's ir Science Department courses who were Proficient or Advanced or Science TCAP | | | | | |
| Bearden Middle School | 80% | 79% | 81% | | | | | |
| Carter Middle School | 48% | 60% | 60% | | | | | |
| Cedar Bluff Middle School | 62% | 83% | 85% | | | | | |
| Farragut Middle School | 87% | 89% | 92% | | | | | |
| Gresham Middle School | 76% | 82% | 88% | | | | | |
| Halls Middle School | 61% | 75% | 83% | | | | | |
| Holston Middle School | 55% | 76% | 79% | | | | | |
| Karns Middle School | 74% | 84% | 92% | | | | | |
| Northwest Middle School | 50% | 70% | 71% | | | | | |
| Powell Middle School | 54% | 72% | 79% | | | | | |
| South Doyle Middle School | 46% | 58% | 73% | | | | | |
| Vine Middle Magnet School | 31% | 34% | 42% | | | | | |
| West Valley Middle School | 96% | 92% | 96% | | | | | |
| Whittle Springs Middle School | 50% | 44% | 56% | | | | | |
| All Knox County Middle Schools | 67% | 76% | 82% | | | | | |

| 2010 2011 | % of students with all A's and B's who were Proficie or Advanced on TCAP | | | | | |
|-------------------------------------|---|---------------------------|---------------|--|--|--|
| 2010-2011 | Math | Reading/ Language Arts | Science | | | |
| A.L. Lotts Elementary School | 86% | 82% | ļ | | | |
| Adrian Burnett Elementary School | 62% | 57% | | | | |
| Amherst Elementary School | 81% | 81% | | | | |
| Ball Camp Elementary School | 69% | 80% | | | | |
| Bearden Elementary School | 78% | 80% | | | | |
| Beaumont Magnet School | 89% | 100% | 1 | | | |
| Belle Morris Elementary School | 59% | 49% | | | | |
| Blue Grass Elementary School | 81% | 88% | | | | |
| Bonny Kate Elementary School | 78% | 78% | | | | |
| Brickey-McCloud Elementary School | 85% | 77% | | | | |
| Carter Elementary School | 63% | 66% | | | | |
| Cedar Bluff Elementary School | 70% | 73% | | | | |
| Chilhowee Intermediate School | 72% | 81% | | | | |
| Christenberry Elementary School | 33% | 37% | | | | |
| Conner Pidge Elementary School | 69% | 72% | | | | |
| Corruton Elementary School | 76% | 80% | | | | |
| Dogwood Elementary School | 52% | 17% | | | | |
| East Knox County Elementary School | 61% | 58% | | | | |
| East Knox County Elementary School | 85% | 30% | | | | |
| | 58% | 760/ | | | | |
| Con Crock Flomentary School | 50% | 76% | | | | |
| Gap Creek Elementary School | 75% | 05% | | | | |
| GIDDS Elementary School | F79/ | 65% | | | | |
| Green Magnet Academy | 700/ | 54% | | | | |
| Halls Elementary School | 70% | 80% | | | | |
| Hardin Valley Elementary School | 11/0 | 80% | | | | |
| Inskip Elementary School | 43% | 47% | | | | |
| Karns Elementary School | 67% | 76% | | | | |
| Lonsdale Elementary School | NAV | NAV | | | | |
| Maynard Elementary School | | NAV | NAV | | | |
| Mooreland Heights Elementary School | 61% | 54% | | | | |
| Mount Olive Elementary School | 63% | 73% | | | | |
| New Hopewell Elementary School | 73% | 78% | | | | |
| Norwood Elementary School | 59% | 64% | | | | |
| Pleasant Ridge Elementary School | 83% | 81% | | | | |
| Pond Gap Elementary School | NAV | NAV | NAV | | | |
| Powell Elementary School | 65% | 63% | | | | |
| Ritta Elementary School | 73% | 74% | | | | |
| Rocky Hill Elementary School | 76% | 74% | | | | |
| Sarah Moore Greene Magnet School | 23% | 30% | | | | |
| Sequoyah Elementary School | 98% | 98% | 1 | | | |
| Shannondale Elementary School | 69% | 72% | KIA 37 | | | |
| South Knoxville Elementary School | NAV | NAV 4404 | NAV | | | |
| | 40% | 41% | | | | |
| Sterchi Elementary School | 61% | 90% | | | | |
| West Hills Elementery School | 01% 72% | 03% 770/ | | | | |
| West View Elementary School | 1270 ΝΔ\/ | <u>//%</u> ΝΔ\/ | ΝΔΥ | | | |
| | 1 1/7 1 | 1 N/T V | | | | |

Note: The elementary school data is informational, but not 100% clean:

-The students counted were those with data available for TCAP and no final grades that were C,D,F, incomplete, or unknown/no grade listed.

-Schools marked NAV are those with fewer than 10 student records in the database that met these criteria.

A summary of this one indicator of academic rigor shows that three of the KCS magnet schools have the lowest rigor in the school system.



At Beaumont, student academic data shows a significant achievement gap between the students attracted from out of zone and students in zone, some of which might not be unexpected given the context of a school with an honors magnet program, but the magnitude of which suggests that , there is still significant work to do to become a consistently rigorous educational opportunity for all students.

What it takes to improve

According to a 2005 Knox County magnet evaluation and publications about other districts, many successful magnet schools and other successfully reformed schools have specific criteria for principal selection, and extensive, ongoing professional development for the teaching staff. According to school interviews conducted by SCORE Tennessee, turnaround schools have high expectations for students, which is manifest "not in what the administrators think they are doing, but in what the students say about what they expect of themselves".

Cost vs. Enrollment

The table below shows the enrollment history and 2010-2011 magnet-specific budget for each of the five zoned magnet programs.

| | 2005 | -2006 | 2010-2011 | | 5-year change | | | |
|--------------------|--|---------------------------------|----------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--|--|-------------------------------------|--|
| | # of Out-of- Zone Magnet Students | % of Students Out-of-Zone | # of Out-of- Zone Students | % of Students Out-of- Zone | Change in # out-of- zone students | Change in percentage of out-of- zone students (2005 vs. 2011) | Total Magnet Budget 2010-2011 | Total budget per out-of-zone student |
| Beaumont | 75 | 17.12 | 155 | 28.7 | 80 | 11.58 | \$ 233,649 | \$ 1,507 |
| Green | 29 | 7.02 | 26 | 7.14 | -3 | 0.12 | \$ 235,051 | \$ 9,040 |
| Sarah Moore Greene | 38 | 6.37 | 71 | 10.73 | 33 | 4.36 | \$ 237,509 | \$ 3,345 |
| Vine | 43 | 8.53 | 55 | 16.12 | 12 | 7.59 | \$ 174,761 | \$ 3,177 |
| Austin-East | 55 | 6.19 | 28 | 4.68 | -27 | -1.51 | \$ 314,837 | \$ 11,244 |

Conclusion

The current data confirm the findings from the 2005 evaluation that there is significant work needed both in magnet offerings and academic rigor as well as integration of transferred students and zoned students if magnet programs are to succeed in reforming schools in Knox County. This work could be modeled on the levels of rigor, commitment, and scrutiny present in in magnet schools that have been successful in other states. Given the lengthy history and cost of magnet programs in Knox County, milestones for this work, progress review, and sunset dates if milestone cannot be met are warranted.

Appendix D: Summary of Language! Program Evaluation

Introduction and Key Elements of the Initiative

Language! is a reading intervention for students in 6th grade and above, implemented as a component of the Excellence Through Literacy initiative which was launched in 2008 in response to the high rate of students reading behind grade level across the district (measured on the Gates-MacGinitie test administered to 9th grade students in the fall of 2007). The structure of the program is to identify struggling readers and schedule them for the 90-minute Language! class which focuses on reading, with at minimum an additional 30 minutes of their schedule focused on language arts in middle school. The student would be assessed for progress each semester and continue in the program until reaching exit criteria (either by advancement to the final book level and/or reaching grade-level reading fluency and comprehension). If a student is not progressing sufficiently, he or she does not continue in the Language! program. Below is a logic model illustrating the investments, main activities, and intended outcomes of Language!.

| Language! Logic Model | | | | | | | |
|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| INPUTS | \longrightarrow c | DUTPUTS | | | | | |
| Investments | Activities | Reach | Intended Outcomes | | | | |
| ~200 teachers (already employed) - 7 literacy coaches - Training and professional development | Assess students for placement & exit + professional reviews for each student each semester | | Students learn to read at grade level (fluency, comprehension, & writing skills) & gain confidence | | | | |
| | 90-minute blocks for Language! and 30 minute regular reading/language arts for state performance indicators (SPIs) | Students scoring ≤ 35th percentile in reading ~6875 students in middle school 2007-2011 ~1280 students in high school 2007-2011 | Ability to learn increasess for regular core | | | | |
| | $^{\sim}$ 14.5 coach visits per teacher per year | | | | | | |
| ~200K per year, ~\$2.4 million past for grades 6-12 component of Excellence Through Literacy | | All MS and all HS | Students graduate better prepared for career or further education | | | | |

Methods

Multiple outcome indicators have been analyzed to provide a range of perspectives in a thorough evaluation of the KCS students' outcomes after successfully completing the Language! program. Analysis included both comparisons of a student to his or her own growth trajectory before entry and after successful exit from the program and comparisons of Language! students to their peers (by grade and by achievement level). Multiple stakeholders were consulted during the design of the evaluation in the fall of 2011, prior to any review of data, to obtain agreement on the logic model and available outcome indicators.

Findings and Analysis

Below is a table summarizing the quantitative analyses in the Language! program evaluation.

| Short-term outcomes | | | | | | | | |
|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Progress in reading fluency during program | Positive | | | | | | | |
| Rate of successful exit from Language! | | | | | | | | |
| Only book level and comprehension level | 20-27% | | | | | | | |
| Including completion of final book w/o comprehension | 24-50% | | | | | | | |
| Average time from enrollment to exit | 1.7 years | | | | | | | |
| % of successful Language! students reading on or within one | 46% | | | | | | | |
| grade level per Gates-MacGinitie 2011 (9 th graders only) | | | | | | | | |
| Mid-term outcomes | | | | | | | | |
| TCAP growth pre- and post-program (compared to self) | Negative change | | | | | | | |
| TCAP growth post-program compared to grade level peers | Inconclusive | | | | | | | |
| TCAP growth post-program compared to NCE level peers | Negative NCE change, but | | | | | | | |
| | significantly less negative than lowest | | | | | | | |
| | level peers | | | | | | | |
| Change in GPA pre- and post- Language! (compared to self) | Negative, not statistically significant | | | | | | | |
| Change in GPA compared to non-Language! students with | Non-Language! students had positive | | | | | | | |
| baseline GPA ≤ 2.5 | change, a statistically significant | | | | | | | |
| | difference from Language! students | | | | | | | |
| Absences and tardies | Increase | | | | | | | |
| Long-term outcomes | | | | | | | | |
| Explore/Plan/ACT average score gain between tests | < 2 points | | | | | | | |
| (2 points score gain approximates 1 year growth) | | | | | | | | |
| Score gains Language! vs. non-Language! students | Negative difference | | | | | | | |
| Unintended Outcomes | | | | | | | | |
| Non-Language! students' change in growth 5 th vs. 6 th grade | Positive change, statistically | | | | | | | |
| when Language! program was in place in 6 th grade | significant and increasing proportional | | | | | | | |
| | to baseline NCE | | | | | | | |

While more detailed explanations and rationale for choosing each of the above data points will be included in the full program evaluation which is currently underway, this summary highlights that while there are demonstrable short-term successes, most long-term indicators for Language! students are negative. This disconnect is likely due largely to the minimal exposure the language arts state performance indicators (SPI) in middle school, which is a consequence of the structure of the program *as implemented*. One unexpected positive outcome of the implementation of the program in 6th grade has been a greater growth trajectory for students not in the program. This was postulated in a 2009 evaluation and confirmed with the current data.

Fidelity of Implementation

The program evaluation also included a fidelity analysis, to determine the feasibility of implementing the program on such a large scale. Only three schools (1 HS and 2 MS) were identified by multiple factors as having particularly low fidelity to implementation. The extent of consistency across the other schools has been attributed to the dedicated role of the middle and high school reading coaches.

- Short-term outcomes analyses were rerun excluding those three schools, and the exit rate was 24.8% compared to 23.5%. In terms of its functional significance, 1.3% of the Language! students in these three schools represents approximately 14 students who perhaps could have achieved grade level reading skills if the program had been implemented with greater fidelity in those schools.
- In the other schools, the largest variation was in the **quality of Language! teachers**. However, the proportion of strongly qualified teachers or weakly qualified teachers in Language! classes was essentially proportional to the entire teaching staff at the school.
- Another source of variation was the treatment of SPI due to concerns about TCAP scores. At
 one end of the spectrum were teachers who *enhanced* the Language! curriculum by
 incorporating SPIs throughout, while at the other end were teachers who *replaced* the
 Language! curriculum with TCAP and writing preparation as test time neared. This issue was
 more teacher-specific than a systematic issue across schools.

Targeting

One of the essential questions of the program evaluation was whether students could be better targeted to improve outcomes, so multiple data points were segmented by a variety of baseline measures. The data warrant further review to understand them properly in context, but there were a couple of noteworthy findings that need to be considered as well:

• GPA findings suggest that there were students enrolled in the program who were already academically average despite their reading deficits, according to teacher grading.



• The likelihood of reaching comprehension level in the 4th year of the program is low, confirming anecdotal reports that some students are so far behind that it is difficult for them to ever catch up, emphasizing the importance of support in elementary education. (The context of Language! within the Excellence Through Literacy initiative was for the program to be phased out as improvements in elementary reduced the need for interventions in middle and high school.)



According to the Gates-MacGinitie reading assessment administered to 9th grade students in the fall of 2011, there are still students both in Language! and not in Language! who are more than a grade level behind in their reading skills, so there is still a need for interventions in middle school. Also, the data suggest that a revision to the methods for identifying students for intervention may need to be revised, because there are some students who have deficits but have not been enrolled in the program.

| Distribution of grade level deficits for Language! vs. non-Language! students (Gates-MacGinitie Test, Fall 2011 9 th grade students) | | | | | | | | |
|--|-----------------------|---------------------------|--|-----|--|--|--|--|
| | Not readi never in | ng on grade, Language! | Not reading on grade after successfully completing Language! | | | | | |
| Total # students | 775 | | 151 (3/4 of all successful Language! students) | | | | | |
| 1 grade level or less behind | 314 | 41% | 41 | 27% | | | | |
| >1-2 grade levels behind | 187 | 24% | 33 | 22% | | | | |
| >2-3 grade levels behind | 136 | 18% | 39 | 26% | | | | |
| >3-4 grade levels behind | 76 | 10% | 31 | 21% | | | | |
| >4 grade levels behind | 62 | 8% | 7 | 5% | | | | |
| Average | - | 1.74 2.04 | | | | | | |

In general, when students are in the program for more than a year, their growth on state
performance indicators of reading and language arts (TCAP R/LA) declines. For students whose
baseline normal curve equivalent (NCE) is already higher than 50, the TCAP results show a
decline in NCE level even after only one year in the Language! program as designed. One
possible exception are students whose Baseline NCE is in the lowest decile (a very small group).

| Table | e 18b. Growth by | NCE G | iroup: Languag | e! vs. | non-La | nguage! (Bas | eline/ | ′Entry Year = | 2008) |) |
|----------------------|--|-------|--|--------|----------------|--|--------|--|-------|----------------|
| Baseline Year NCE | Change in NCE Baseline to Year 1: Lang! | N | Change in NCE Baseline to Year 1: Non-Lang! | N | t-test prob | Change in NCE Year 1 to Year 2: Lang! | N | Change in NCE Year 1 to Year 2: Non-Lang! | N | t-test prob |
| 1-10 | 19.5 | 19 | 29.7 | 9 | 0.00 | 0.4 | 19 | -4.7 | 9 | 0.00 |
| 11-20 | 8.5 | 13 | 9.0 | 6 | 0.04 | -7.2 | 13 | -2.2 | 6 | 0.00 |
| 21-30 | 3.1 | 52 | 2.8 | 10 | 0.17 | -5.0 | 52 | -1.1 | 10 | 0.14 |
| 31-40 | 0.7 | 127 | -0.1 | 35 | 0.01 | -7.6 | 127 | -4.6 | 35 | 0.00 |
| 41-50 | -2.4 | 126 | -0.9 | 131 | 0.33 | -7.5 | 126 | -2.2 | 131 | 0.00 |
| 51-60 | -5.1 | 82 | -2.1 | 374 | 0.00 | -6.3 | 82 | -4.0 | 374 | 0.10 |
| 61-70 | -10.5 | 17 | -5.1 | 624 | 0.00 | -7.8 | 17 | -2.6 | 624 | 0.39 |

- Finally, on reading-only measures (not including language arts) as measured by the Language! program, periodic reports have consistently shown progress of students within the program:
 - > Average grade equivalence gains in fluency ranged from 9 mos to 2 yrs from book to book.
 - > Gains in comprehension ranged from 4 months to 14 months from book to book.
 - Additional review of reading-only measures is currently underway in response to the confounding of the longer-term results as outlined above.

Additional Considerations

There are several ways to consider the costs of the program, and these multiple perspectives should be considered in any cost-benefit analysis or re-design or comparison to other possible interventions:

- The total costs of \$1.3M up to \$2.6M estimated for 8,155 participating students over 4 years is
 ~\$159-\$318 per participating student
- 1378 of these students have demonstrated short-term success, or a rate of ~\$943-\$1741 per exited student
- Considering only those who reached comprehension level, or 1169 students, that is a rate of ~\$1112-\$2053 per successfully exited student
- 44% of those scored within grade level on the Gates-MacGinitie, for a rate of
 2529-\$4669 per successfully exited student confirmed by an external reading measure

Conclusion

The possible long-term benefits of the Language! program are confounded by the structure of its implementation, therefore a restructure of the intervention design is warranted. However, there have been indicators of progress in reading-specific measures, so the data does not obviously lead to a recommendation for full abandonment of the program, particularly because the Gates-MacGinitie reading test administered in Fall 2011 shows that reading interventions are still needed across the district in middle school, and cost is a consideration.

The program evaluation was originally designed to review mainly long-term outcomes, but in light of the current results, it is being expanded to include more analysis of the short-term progress measures to inform the appropriate restructuring and targeting.

An informed restructure of reading interventions given the large scale of the need requires a review of all of the data and analyses (including progress points, differential outcomes, opportunities for better targeting, fidelity of implementation, and cost-benefit considerations) by experienced stakeholders including representative principals, teachers, instructional coaches, supervisors and directors.

At the very least, middle school and high school students need to receive the full grade-level course of language arts regardless of reading-specific intervention.

Appendix E: Review of Block Scheduling in High Schools and Middle Schools

Introduction and Key Elements of the Initiative

Block scheduling was implemented in high schools in the mid 1990's in response to a change in credit requirements for graduation and a movement across the nation to provide more focused learning and more planning time for teachers to improve the environment for teaching and learning. Below is a logic model for the "4X4" block schedule in high school, based on documentation and correspondence from the initial implementation in 1994-1995. Middle schools moved to year-round classes with a related arts block at the same time. The intention for these scheduling models was to improve learning time and increase teacher planning.

| INPUTS | ───────────────────────────────────── | UTS | |
|--|---|--|---|
| Investments | Activities | Reach | Intended Outcomes |
| Annually ~\$4.6-5.8 million for additional 89-112 teaching positions. | Semester-long classes, four 90-minute periods per day, for possible 8 total classes per year (vs. 6-7 year-long classes, 45-55 min. per day) For teachers, 3 periods to teach, 1 period to plan each day (vs. teach 5-6 periods, plan 1- | All KCS high schools since 1990s, modifications present in several high schools since 2009 | Ensure feasibility of meeting increased requirements for credits necessary to graduate (starting with freshman entering 1994-1995), including university prep or technical prep and increased opportunity to make up failed classes. Maintain opportunities in the schedule for electives (e.g., fine arts foreign language, 4th yr science & math,CTE, computer science, business, phys ed, Home ec, AP) in face of increased core credit requirements. |
| | 2 periods) | | Improve learning success with less fragmented experiences and fewer instructional disruptions and opportunity for more variety in teaching methods and individual acceleration or remediation. |

High School Block Scheduling Logic Model

Methods

This review included available information from past evaluations such as the reactions to the high school pilot in 1994, the comprehensive self-report by high schools in 1999, and the review presented to the school board in 2003, recent literature reviews, and longitudinal achievement trends since 2003 with data extracted from state report cards and the Knox County Schools data warehouse.

Findings and Analysis

High Schools

In the **1999 evaluation** (self-reported by schools) comparing block to regular schedule in high schools, the response to block scheduling was **mainly positive**, with the following breakdown:

- + Overwhelmingly positive regarding preparation time for teachers.
- + Particular benefits noted for lab/"hands-on" classes, fine arts, vocational, and electives (Austin-East, Bearden, Carter, Gibbs, Halls, South-Doyle)
- Concerns expressed for math and foreign languages, particularly due to time to cover material in-depth, practice, and retain over a semester/summer break (Austin-East, Bearden, Carter, Gibbs, Halls, West). Bearden, Carter, and Gibbs also pointed out a reduction in time for supplemental reinforcement and engagement activities.
- Expected benefit for students who work at a slower pace was the only intended outcome that earned less than 50% approval on a teacher survey. In addition, Bearden and Gibbs reported that students were failing more courses, and Carter, Halls, and South-Doyle commented specifically that block was more difficult for students needing extra help.
- +/- Polar opposite opinions about change in student focus and productive time during class. (There was professional development in first year to help teachers with strategies for maximizing a 90-minute period, but this was not continued in subsequent years to keep up with teacher turnover.)
- ~ Anecdotes and available data were inconclusive about the effect on **relationship with students** and **discipline** after the first year of change.

A 2003 review for the school board confirmed the positive results above, recommending that the KCS:

- train new teachers and new hires in planning/teaching a 90-minute period
- "continue to look at master schedules to maximize learning opportunities"
- ensure that high quality teachers are placed in the basic level math courses in high school.

Recent literature overviews suggest similar findings in other schools systems over the past two decades, with additional reports of increases in daily attendance, graduation rates, and GPA, attributed to block scheduling, as well as a concern about second semester achievement testing when students take a course in the first semester.

- Attendance increased in the KCS from 1995-1999, attributed to a time-for-time policy implemented the same year to address concerns that a single day absent on block would mean more material missed.
- Similarly, several KCS initiatives since 2003 and increased state accountability have focused specifically on increasing graduation rates.

Because the block schedule was not implemented with the specific intent of improving student achievement, reviews have focused on at minimum *maintaining* student achievement while improving the other outcomes.
Since 2003, there is one area where student achievement has not been maintained in the KCS:

- The percent of Knox County high school students passing the end of course (EOC) exam in Algebra I declined from 91% to 79% from 2003-2009, in contrast to the state EOCs and Knox County middle school math.
- In 1995 when block was first implemented, University of Tennessee math professors were concerned about a possible detrimental effect on math retention due to reduced class time: 180 classes of 55 minutes (total of 9900 minutes) vs. 90 classes of 90 minutes (total of 8100 minutes), offset only partially by reduced class transition time.



Middle Schools

- Recent overviews of similar scheduling models across the nation are more positive about outcomes for middle school than high school.
- The KCS middle school outcomes have increased over the time in Reading/LA as well as math.

Additional considerations

The following table outlines several implications comparing alternative schedules.

| | Six Period | Seven Period | 4x4 Block | |
|--------------------|-------------------------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------|--|
| Instructional Time | 60 min/class x180 days | 50 min/class x180 days | 90 min/class x90 days | |
| | 10,800 mins=180 hrs per | 9,000 mins = 150 hrs per class | 8,100 mins = 135 hrs per | |
| | class | | class | |
| Plan Time | 10,800 mins/60=180 hrs | 9,000 mins/60=150 hrs | 16,200 mins/60 = 270 hrs | |
| "Efficiency" | Teach $5/6 = 83\%$ efficiency | Teach $5/7 = 71\%$ effic. | Teach $3/4 = 75\%$ effic. | |
| - | | Teach $6/7 = 85.7\%$ effic. | | |
| Staffing | 1,000 student school | 1,000 student school | 1,000 students | |
| 0 | Students in 6 classes | Students in 7 classes, Teachers | Teachers teach 3 with 1 | |
| | Teachers teach 5 with 1 | teach 5 with 2 plan or 1 plan w/ | plan = 54 teachers | |
| | planning period = approx. | extra duties = 56.77 teachers | - | |
| | 48.66 teachers | (same as current MS, more than | | |
| | | HS 4X4) | | |
| | | | | |
| | 5 classes x 30 students = 150 | 5 classes x 30 students $= 150$ | 3 classes x 30 students = | |
| | students/day/teacher | students/day | 90 students/day | |
| | | | | |
| | | Teach 6 w/ 1 plan= 47.30 | | |
| | | teachers, 180 students | | |
| | | | | |
| | KCS-wide:89 fewer teachers | KCS-wide: 112 fewer teachers | | |
| | than 4X4 in HS (\$4.6M) | than 4X4 in HS (\$5.8M) | | |
| | | | | |
| | 98 fewer positions that 7/5 | 115 fewer teachers than current | | |
| | in middle school (\$5.1M) | MS schedule (\$6.0M) | | |
| Academic Impact | Earn fewer credits $-2\overline{4}$ | Earn fewer credits – 28 | More credits – 32 | |
| | Much less dual enrollment, | Fewer dual enrollment, AP and | More dual enrollment, | |
| | AP and elective | elective opportunities | AP and elective | |
| | opportunities | | opportunities | |

Any alternative would also need to address textbook allocations, pacing guides, and staff development.

Another consideration with respect to scheduling is the opportunity for students to retake failed classes that are needed for graduation (22 credits required by state, 4 less than the total offered is the requirement in the KCS.) This was one of the reasons cited in favor of the block schedule over the past two decades. With the use of technology, certain students who fail classes can recover their course credits after school through the Plato Web Learning Network, which is currently in place in the Knox County Schools.

Conclusion

For high school, the data suggest that outcomes could be improved by a hybrid schedule that addresses the differential needs of different courses, for example:

• A year-long schedule for math, foreign languages, English, and AP courses to provide sustained learning and additional time to cover material in depth. A minimum amount of 50 per period would be necessary to increase the time on task from the current schedule.

• A semester-long block or double period for fine arts, CTE, and lab courses including science to provide additional time in each setting for hands-on and exploration activities as well as multiple opportunities to participate in those courses throughout high school.

Risks to manage in a hybrid or modified schedule include:

- Complexity of master scheduling to maximize student opportunities w/in staffing constraints
- Adverse effect on highly mobile students if schedule modifications are not consistent across the district
- Higher likelihood that students could reach 11th or 12th grade with too few credits to graduate, unless closely monitored.

For middle schools, the available academic data support maintaining the current schedule.

Appendix F: Review of Parallel Block Schedules in Elementary School

Introduction and Key Elements of the Initiative

Elementary schools began to implement parallel block schedules in 2004-2005, with all schools migrating to parallel block by 2008-2009 with assistance from Excellence Through Literacy funding. The parallel block contains a period where students participate in related arts while teachers have common planning time intended to improve teaching through collaboration via particularly professional learning communities (PLCs). The yearly cost of the additional related arts teachers for this purpose is approximately \$2,000,000. Excellence Through Literacy also provided elementary teaching assistants at an additional annual cost of approximately \$380,000.

Methods

To determine whether these investments have resulted in a measurable impact on student reading and language arts skills, the change in normal curve equivalent (NCE) in Grade 3-5 reading/language arts achievement data was analyzed. (If the average change in NCE is greater after implementation than before, then it could suggest a change in the trajectory of student learning.) Note: The baseline NCE was reset with the new TCAP standards, so that year was not included in the analyses.

Findings and Analysis

The elementary block was implemented in a staggered fashion from 2004-2005 to 2008-2009.

- The average change in NCE in reading in the 1-3 years* prior to and including block implementation at each of the schools was 1.4 vs. the change in NCE in the 2-3 years** following block implementation, which was 2.2, for a positive difference of 0.8, with a standard deviation of 2.1. (*=Available data, **=Not including the year the NCE was re-baselined)
- The average was comprised of 28 of the 49 (57%) of elementary school who had a positive change in the NCE trajectory.
- The following chart contains the changes in each school.

| | | | | - | - | |
|------------------------|--------------------|------------------|-----------------------|------------|------------|--|
| Change in Norn | nal Curve Equivale | nt Before and Af | ter Parallel Block In | nplementa | tion | |
| | | Average NCE | Average NCE | | | |
| | | change in the 1- | change 1-3** | | | |
| | School year that | 3* years after | years before | | | |
| | block schedule was | block was | block+1st year of | | Positive | |
| Elementary Schools | implemented | implemented | implementation | Difference | Change? | |
| | | | | | | |
| Amherst | 2004-05 | 1.1 | 5.0 | 3.8 | Yes | |
| Beaumont | 2004-05 | 2.5 | 3.9 | 1.5 | Yes | |
| Belle Morris | 2004-05 | 2.3 | 5.6 | 3.3 | Yes | |
| Christenberry | 2004-05 | 0.9 | 0.8 | -0.2 | NO | |
| Dogwood | 2004-05 | 0.5 | 3.1 | 2.6 | Yes | |
| Green | 2004-05 | -0.4 | 4./ | 5.0 | Yes | |
| Inskip | 2004-05 | 1.2 | 3.8 | 2.6 | Yes | |
| Lonsdale | 2004-05 | 1.1 | 2.9 | 1.8 | Yes | |
| Maynard | 2004-05 | 0.1 | 4.6 | 4.5 | Yes | |
| Mount Olive | 2004-05 | 3.6 | 5.4 | 1.8 | Yes | |
| Sarah Moore Greene | 2004-05 | 0.0 | 0.2 | 0.2 | Yes | |
| South Knoxville | 2004-05 | 1.4 | 0.0 | -1.4 | No | |
| Spring Hill | 2004-05 | 1.6 | 2.9 | 1.3 | Yes | |
| West View | 2004-05 | 2.1 | 2.0 | -0.1 | No | |
| Ball Camp | 2005-06 | 2.3 | 2.3 | 0.0 | No | |
| Carter | 2005-06 | 2.2 | 2.1 | -0.1 | No | |
| East Knox County | 2005-06 | 1.7 | 3.7 | 2.1 | Yes | |
| Fountain City | 2005-06 | 2.6 | 1.1 | -1.5 | No | |
| Halls | 2005-06 | 1.7 | 0.9 | -0.8 | No | |
| Karns | 2005-06 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | No | |
| Norwood | 2005-06 | 1.0 | 2.4 | 1.4 | Yes | |
| Powell | 2005-06 | -1.9 | 3.8 | 5.7 | Yes | |
| West Haven | 2005-06 | 2.6 | 2.1 | -0.4 | No | |
| Adrian Burnett | 2006-07 | -0.6 | 3.5 | 4.1 | Yes | |
| Chilhowee Intermediat | 2006-07 | 2.2 | 2.7 | 0.4 | Yes | |
| Mooreland Heights | 2006-07 | 2.5 | 1.8 | -0.8 | No | |
| Pleasant Ridge | 2006-07 | 3.8 | 4.7 | 0.9 | Yes | |
| Pond Gap | 2006-07 | -0.2 | 2.1 | 2.3 | Yes | |
| Ritta | 2006-07 | -1.3 | 4.1 | 5.4 | Yes | |
| Sterchi | 2006-07 | 3.1 | 3.9 | 0.8 | Yes | |
| Sunnyview Primary | 2006-07 | 0.5 | 0.1 | -0.3 | No | |
| West Hills | 2006-07 | 3.0 | 2.3 | -0.6 | No | |
| Bearden | 2007-08 | 0.8 | 1.1 | 0.3 | Yes | |
| Copper Ridge | 2007-08 | 6.2 | 3.0 | -3.2 | No | |
| Gibbs | 2007-08 | 2.9 | 1.3 | -1.6 | No | |
| Hardin Valley | 2007-08 | -3.2 | -0.9 | 2.3 | Yes | |
| New Hopewell | 2007-08 | 0.9 | 1.3 | 0.3 | Yes | |
| Shannondale | 2007-08 | 5.5 | 2.9 | -2.7 | No | |
| A. L. Lotts | 2008-09 | 3.3 | 1.0 | -2.3 | No | |
| Blue Grass | 2008-09 | -1.2 | 0.3 | 1.6 | Yes | |
| Bonny Kate | 2008-09 | -0.1 | 0.2 | 0.3 | Yes | |
| Brickey-McCloud | 2008-09 | 2.8 | 1.2 | -1.6 | No | |
| Cedar Bluff | 2008-09 | 2.8 | 2.5 | -0.3 | No | |
| Corryton | 2008-09 | 0.9 | 1.4 | 0.5 | Yes | |
| Farragut Intermediate | 2008-09 | 2.6 | 0.8 | -1.8 | No | |
| Farragut Primary | 2008-09 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | No | |
| Gap Creek | 2008-09 | -0.2 | 1.2 | 1.4 | Yes | |
| Rocky Hill | 2008-09 | 0.9 | 0.5 | -0.4 | No | |
| Sequoyah | 2008-09 | -0.2 | 0.0 | 0.2 | Yes | |
| 1 | | | | | | |
| All KCS Elementary (av | erage of averages) | 1.4 | 2.2 | 0.8 | 28 schools | |
| | | | | | | |

- By 2008-2009, all elementary schools were implementing parallel block with Excellence Through Literacy funding for additional related arts teachers to allow time for planning and PLCs.
 - The trajectory of all the KCS grades 3-5 from 2006-2008 was positive, while the change was essentially zero 2009-2011, resulting from first a drop in one year then a rebound the next. This could be the beginning of an upward trend; only future data will confirm.
 - \circ $\;$ The trajectory in grade 3 was different from Grades 4 and 5, and has been declining.

- A single cohort of students who were in 3rd grade in 2008-2009 and 5th grade in 2010-2011 shows an increase in NCE in all subjects, which could reflect less than possible growth in K-2 or a continuing acceleration from K-2 if students started far behind.
- Data is not available for K-2 for 2008-2011 that would distinguish between these possible explanations. However, kindergarten literacy assessments are included in the Knox County Schools data warehouse this year so can now provide district-wide basis for analysis from the students' earliest entry into the KCS. The teacher observation data through the TEAM (and TAP) evaluations this year will for the first time provide district-wide data in K-2 that could guide PLCs in their focus and provide insight for the differences in grade level results.



Additional Considerations

- Common Core is being implemented in K-2 this year, to extend to all grades in subsequent years prior to the first PARCC assessments in 2014-2015.
- The Professional Learning Communities (PLCs) have not been assessed for quality of implementation in past years. Feedback from principals revealed that the oversight and guidance for the PLCs has fallen in priority behind TEAM observations in this first year of TEAM.
- Formative assessments are now being administered in Grade 2 as well as Grades 3-5.
- For the first time this year, the law requires demonstration of reading proficiency in the 3rd grade or a student may not be promoted to the next grade without intervention.

Conclusion

While additional data next year will provide more definitive information, it is clear that simply the availability of common planning time has not yet produced the magnitude of results that might be expected for the district-wide investment. However, with advent of common core, the legislative changes that increase the focus on K-2, and the availability of better information to guide quality PLCs, it does not seem advisable to restructure K-2 at this time. It is advisable to define the role of the teaching assistants, develop quality and progress measures for PLCs, use newly available data to understand past results and guide future practices, and articulate the link between these resources and activities and the expected elementary outcomes in order to assess the investment in the future.

Appendix G: Review of Instructional Coaching Model

Introduction and Key Elements of the Initiative

The logic of instructional coaching is to provide school-based, job-embedded professional development for a community of teachers in order to raise the quality of teaching and learning across a school and build collective leadership to improve outcomes for students. While Knox County has employed people with the title of "coach" since the 1990s, their actual daily functions (often not related to professional development at all) as well as the number of instructional coaches and reporting structure of the coaching model have varied widely.

<u>Methods</u>

The variation in implementation precluded a meaningful quantitative analysis of instructional coaching in aggregate. Longitudinal achievement data was plotted by school, but the lack of consistent information on how coaches were employed in each school prior to 2011-2012 made even differential trend analysis un-interpretable. So ultimately, this initiative review centered on segments of coaches and collections of qualitative information about the coaching model (historical and present) compared to publications about what a successful coaching model requires.

Findings and Analysis

The Role of an Instructional Coach

Tasks that are common to all the KCS instructional coaches are:

- Modeling lessons
- Accessing and interpreting data together with teachers and principals
- Facilitating and attending school professional learning community (PLC) meetings
- Helping to screen students for interventions

The *extent* to which a coaches' daily work is devoted to these common tasks depends on the other duties that the coach was asked to perform for the school in ad hoc roles from administrative assistant to assistant administrator.

- Coaches have been keeping a task log in the last year but have voiced concern that they report on tasks they are *supposed* to do, but that it doesn't capture all they *end up* doing.
- Precedent has been set over many years that a coach is there to do whatever needs doing.
- Even when it has been communicated to coaches that their role should not include these ad hoc tasks, it is difficult for a coach to decline a principal's request while the coach is trying to build/maintain relationships, especially in schools where the principal has limited other help.
- In elementary schools, coaches often administer standardized tests because unlike middle and high schools, there is not a full-time guidance person to handle the task.

Seven (7) middle school literacy coaches were added in 2007-2008 as part of the Excellence Through Literacy Initiative. Their content-specific tasks have also included:

- Assisting with curriculum and instruction development at middle and high school levels in Reading and language arts
- After school workshops (average of 2 per week)
- Reflecting on reading intervention assessments with teachers and recommending future placements for students .
- In 2011-2012, reading coaches have also been tasked with providing system-wide reading support, limiting their school-specific activities.

System-wide coaches in all content areas also are involved with:

- Textbook adoption and lesson plans to align textbook with curriculum
- Review of writing portfolios
- Meetings with content departments in schools
- Individual time with struggling teachers (at principal's request or own observation)
- Providing suggestions and strategies where need is observed
- TEAM coaching strategies
- Maintaining department websites

Evolution of the Instructional Coaching Model

Based on brief interviews with a few of the current content supervisors and coaches, following is a timeline illustrating the types of changes that the coaching model has undergone since its inception.

Early to mid 90's:

- Specialized Reading coaches and Math coaches
- Allocation was originally by size of school then moved to need

Late 90s:

- Specialized coaches evolved into Curriculum Generalist (CIF)- expert in all areas
- Deployed by size of school

Early 2000s:

- Title IIa funds used for Math coaches (4 elementary, 1 MS)
- So, schools had CIFs and Math coaches

2006-2007 school year:

- HS Math coach added

2007-2008 school year:

- Addition of Reading coaches with Excellence Through Literacy
- At this point, most coaches had become content specific and served many schools

2008-2009 school year:

- Coaches became generalist again, based at only a few schools, with subject area of focus
- Coaching Universe created to support development of coaches
- Most elementary schools had a full-time coach
- No high school math coach

2009-2010 school year:

- High school math coach added back
- Additional math coaches hired through Title I

2010-2011 school year:

- All elementary schools had full-time generalist coach
- Widespread belief that this was the optimal year in terms of placement and development
 - Coaches got to know their teachers
 - Services and messaging was concentrated in one person not diluted over many.
 - o Coaches Universe brought coaches together and also principals.
 - Specialized gifted and talented coaches brought unique and necessary skills.

2011-2012 school year:

- Coaching positions reduced due to loss of stimulus funding
- Back to subject specific system-wide coaches to provide some coach time to each school
- Title I elementary schools could "purchase" full-time site-based coach; more than half did
- Non-Title I schools have 1-3 days per week each with a literacy coach, math coach, and gifted and talented coach.
- Fewer principals are attending Coaches Network or overseeing PLCs; time prioritized to TEAM.

Below is a representation of the *current* coaches' reporting structure. The numbers of coaches since 2009-2010 are included for reference, but it is important to note that for coaches in previous years, the reporting structure depended on the funding source for the coach.

Coaches' Reporting Structure (



Literature Overview

There is scant evidence in recent literature of a *measurable* effect of instructional coaches on student achievement. However, anecdotal evidence lends support to the continuing logic of the model, and highlights that to achieve results that are measurable on a district level, merely the existence of coaches is not sufficient; there is a need for strategic and monitored implementation, particularly:

- Time and environment to build relationships with teachers, especially, but also principals
- **Clearly defined roles and responsibilities**: Defined not only for the coaches but for and with the principals, and including both the primary activities of a coach and the expected outcomes and progress measures that can be tied directly to the coaches' role.
- **Narrow focus:** Too wide of a focus is particularly dilutive to a coaching model because of the importance of relationship and credibility.
- **Support:** Support in the professional development of coaches is vital to their ability to assist teachers in growth. This may also mean supporting the principals in what they need so that they do not need to rely on coaches for non-coaching tasks.

Reading Coaches

Following are graphs containing data for the normal curve equivalent (NCE) trends in elementary grades for the different cohort of students each year and then for only a cohort of students as they move from grade to grade. The implementation variations as noted above as well as the change in standards which resulted in a new baseline for NCE make these results difficult to interpret, except to say:

- Where there is an upward movement across grades in the past year, there is hope for a continuing upward trajectory in future years.
- Even given the change in standards, the magnitude of the upward recovery in 2010-2011 is minimal compared to the size of the investment, which in 2010-2011 was upwards of \$6 million for elementary coaches.
- The reading/literacy coaches in middle and high school who were added through Excellence Through Literacy in 2007-2008 had a more focused role in implementing interventions than elementary, and an analysis of the Gates-MacGinitie reading test of 9th grade students showed a statistically significant improvement in the 2011 versus the 2007 cohorts for schools that participated in both years. (See more analysis of the intervention in the Language! section.)



Math Coaches

One area that demonstrates the potential impact of coaching when implemented well is elementary and middle school math in the KCS. Math coaches were added in 2009-2010 through Title I and their coaching assignments remained relatively stable into the next year. Also, in 2010-2011, there was a supervisor each for elementary and secondary school math and a coordinated and focused strategy that aligned with literature-recommended elements of site-based professional development (PD) that reaches each teacher, focused professional development role that addresses real-time needs, and communication aligned across district.

DRAFT

The difference in outcomes from 2009-2010 to 2010-2011 were as follows:

- 42 of 47 elementary schools increased math percentage of proficient/advanced on TCAP (up to 17.1 percentage points)
- The KCS elementary math overall % P/A increased from 45.3% to 51.4%
- 13 of 14 middle schools increased % P/A (as high as 9.3 percentage points)
- The KCS middle school math overall %P/A increased from 40.7% to 44.6%.
- Mean NCE gain was significantly above the growth standard in all grades (from 1.8 to 4.9)
- Mean NCE gain for grades 4-8 was well above the state growth (+3.1).
- Anecdotally, high school math teachers have noted improvement in the preparedness of students entering this year, are adjusting lesson plans accordingly to improve value add (less need to repeat concepts addressed in middle school)

While another year of data is necessary to confirm whether this was a sustainable improvement or a recovery following adjustment to new standards, following are some specifics about the articulated strategy employed in 2010-2011 which lend credence to the former explanation.

- Site-based PD that reaches each teacher:
 - System-wide math coaches in Elementary (4 coaches) and Middle School (1 coach) provided multiple professional development (PD) sessions after school so all teachers could attend. (As opposed to previous PD for representatives during school day).
 - Allowed new reach to all teachers, particularly in elementary where math is taught at the same time for all teachers (by design per parallel block scheduling).
- Focused PD role that addresses real-time needs:
 - Identified skills needing most focus, used TCAP categorical data to find the weakest state performance indicators, surveyed teachers about the math content where they felt least comfortable, and later in the year made use of electronic math records and formative assessment data (Discovery Ed) to prioritize PD and track progress.
 - Delivered priority PD sessions focused on content areas with delivery timed to curriculum. (Previous PD focused on teaching methods, rarely driven by data or timed to curriculum.)
- Role and communication aligned across district:
 - Increased communication due to narrowed supervisor responsibilities (separate elementary and secondary supervisors) and a contact person at each school when coach was not present or principal not available. (Previously, one person was responsible for all elementary and secondary schools.)
 - Elementary supervisor concentrated on elementary needs and secondary supervisor concentrated on secondary needs, but coordinated strategies.
- Plans for replicating success
 - All math coaches (including Title I) report to system-wide supervisors this year (2011-2012).
 - Electronic math records and Discovery Ed has been in use all year 2011-2012 in middle schools and piloted during the second semester in some elementary schools.
 - Future TEAM evaluations to be used to identifying areas of focus for PD.

Conclusion

Based on the pockets of evidence available in Knox County and other districts, it appears that to achieve measurable results across a school system that would unequivocally justify the expense of the investment in an instructional coaching model, the following commitments are necessary:

- An allocation strategy that provides ample time to build relationships and provide comprehensive PD support for assigned schools.
- Consistent definition and implementation of roles and responsibilities
- Short-term fidelity assessments the strategies are being implemented as designed and to assess the ongoing feasibility of the coaching model
- Articulation of the results expected (commensurate with resources available), with milestones and criteria for success or redirection of the investment.

Appendix H: Explanation of Normal Curve Equivalent (NCE)

Scores on standardized tests like TCAP are distributed in a typical bell curve, or normal curve. In a normal curve, 68% of students score within one standard deviation (σ) of the mean (34.13% on either side), and 95% of students score within two standard deviations.



So, from the perspective of percentiles, the 75th percentile -- the point at which 75% of students score below -- is actually close to the center, within one standard deviation of the mean. If all the percentiles were displayed on a straight line, they would cluster in the middle, under the "bell".



This means that a student moving 4 "percentiles" from the year before has different significance moving from the 95th to the 99th than moving from the 50th to the 54th percentile. However, there is value in being able to talk meaningfully about how far a student moved from year to year and to perform numerical calculations on that movement. Thus, "normal curve equivalent", or NCE, was conceived.

DRAFT

The normal curve equivalent is basically a straight line representation of normal distribution, with even spacing between segments. (So moving an NCE score by 4 means the same starting from 1 or 81.)



Another value of NCE for the purposes of determining "value added" is that the NCE line was built from a fixed baseline for comparison; it was created from the bell curve of the test takers in 2009, the first year the Tennessee performance standards changed. So an NCE score of 50 means the score was exactly the mean (average) of the 2009 test scores.

Appendix I: Glossary of Terms

100-90-90 – Located in the Knox County Schools' Strategic Plan, 100-90-90-90 states that:

- 100% of an entering freshman class will complete high school within four years
- 90% of those will graduate with a regular diploma
- 90% of those who graduate with a regular diploma will have taken the ACT exam
- 90% of those who have taken the ACT will have scored a composite 21 or higher

Achievement - Achievement grades are based on how well students performed on the TCAP assessments against the curriculum standards.

ACT - The ACT test is a curriculum- and standards-based educational and career planning tool that assesses students' academic readiness for college. A composite score of 21 or better is often considered an indicator of college and career readiness.

ADA – (Average Daily Attendance) – The total number of students in attendance on a given day at a school.

ADM – (Average Daily Membership) – The total enrollment at a school.

AP – (Advanced Placement) - college-level courses that a student can take in high school. Students can receive college credit for taking the courses, although not all colleges grant students college credit for the courses.

AYP – (Adequate Yearly Progress) - A measure of a school's or school system's ability to meet required federal benchmarks with specific performance standards from year to year.

BEP – (Basic Education Program) - the funding formula through which state education dollars are generated and distributed to Tennessee schools.

ED – (Economically Disadvantaged) – Students in schools determined to be eligible to participate in the Free or Reduced Lunch program under the National School Lunch Act. The National School Lunch Program (NSLP) is a federally assisted meal program operating in public and nonprofit private schools and residential child care institutions. It provides nutritionally balanced, low-cost or free lunches to children each school day. The program was established under the National School Lunch Act, signed by President Harry Truman in 1946.

ELL – (English Language Learner) - Non-English speaking students.

EOC – (End-Of-Course) – Assessments for high school students that are criterion-referenced, multiple choice tests that measure Performance Indicators defined in the Tennessee Curriculum Standards.

First to the Top – Tennessee's branded education reform plan submitted in the federal Race to the Top competition. In 2010, the State of Tennessee was awarded more than \$501 million in the federal government's Race to the Top competition for its bold and innovative education reform plan.

Fiscal Year – A budget year that begins on July 1 and ends on June 30.

General Purpose Fund – funding that pays for the day-to-day operations of the school system.

Free/Reduced Price Meals - These children are from families who meet certain income criteria making them eligible to receive free or reduced meals at school under the National School Lunch Act. (See more under "Economically Disadvantaged".)

Per Pupil Expenditure (Local, State and Federal) - Total current operating expenditures on a per pupil basis. Some examples are instructional materials, maintenance, and transportation.

Race to the Top – Created by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA), Race to the Top provides competitive grants designed to encourage and reward states that are implementing ambitious plans in education reform.

Report Card - The Tennessee Education Improvement Act of 1992 established accountability standards for all public schools in the state and required the Department of Education to produce a Report Card for the public to assess each year.

ROI – (Return on Investment) – A performance measure used to evaluate the efficiency of an investment or to compare the efficiency of a number of different investments.

TAP – TAP: The System for Teacher and Student Advancement is a revolutionary education reform that provides teachers with powerful opportunities for career advancement, ongoing job-embedded professional development, educator evaluation and performance-based compensation. TAP is now in place at 14 schools in Knox County.

TCAP – (Tennessee Comprehensive Assessment Program) - The TCAP Achievement test uses multiple choice questions that provide a measure of knowledge and application skills in various subject areas for grades K-8. The results of the TCAP Achievement Test provide valuable information regarding student's progress in Tennessee. The TCAP Achievement test is mandated for all students in grades 3-8. The test is not mandated for grades K-2; however, school systems may elect to test students in K, 1 and/or 2.

TEAM – (Tennessee Educator Acceleration Model) - The new teacher evaluation system that was introduced across the state of Tennessee in the 2012-2013 school year. The new system supports principals and teachers working together to ensure that students benefit from the best possible instruction every day. Through a combination of frequent observation, constructive feedback, measures of student learning and aligned development opportunities, TEAM offers both a holistic view of a teacher's effectiveness in the classroom as well as a structure and roadmap for improvement at every level of our system.

Title I - Federally funded programs in high poverty schools that target children with low achievement.

TVAAS (Value-Added) - Value-added measures student progress within a grade and subject, which demonstrates the influence the school has on the students' performance. This reporting provides diagnostic information for improving educational opportunities for students at all achievement levels.